# The Bourgain–Brezis–Mironescu formula on ball Banach function spaces

Feng Dai, Loukas Grafakos, Zhulei Pan, Dachun Yang, Wen Yuan, and Yangyang Zhang

**Abstract** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and *X* be a ball Banach function space on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with an absolutely continuous norm for which the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ , the associate (dual) space of its 1/p-convexification. The purpose of this work is to establish the fundamental formula

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n-1}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{p+1}{2}\right)}{p \, \Gamma\left(\frac{p+n}{2}\right)} \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_X^p$$

for any  $f \in X$ , where  $\Gamma$  is the Gamma function. This identity coincides with the celebrated classical formula of Bourgain, Brezis, and Mironescu [22], [12] when  $X = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , but it is new for general X, in particular for  $X = L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  ( $1 \le p < q < \infty$ ). Translation invariance plays a vital role in the proof of this formula in its aforementioned standard proofs in [22], [12]. But translation invariance may not be valid for ball Banach function spaces, nor is there an explicit expression for the associated norm. The authors overcome these obstacles via a key weighted estimate, obtained using fine geometric properties of adjacent systems of dyadic cubes, and Poincaré's inequality. This estimate is then combined with harmonic analysis tools, such as extrapolation and the boundedness of the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator, to derive the desired formula. Applications of this limiting identity yield new characterizations of ball Banach Sobolev spaces. Explicit spaces X for which these results apply are Morrey spaces, mixed-norm (resp., weighted or variable) Lebesgue spaces, Orlicz(-slice) (or generalized amalgam) spaces, and Lorentz spaces.

## Contents

#### 1 Introduction

# **2** Asymptotics of $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ functions in terms of ball Banach Sobolev norms

6

2

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 46E35; Secondary 26D10, 42B25, 26A33.

*Key words and phrases.* Sobolev semi-norm, Gagliardo semi-norm, ball Banach function space, the BBM Formula. The first author is supported by NSERC of Canada Discovery grant RGPIN-2020-03909, the second author is supported by a Simons Foundation Fellowship (No. 819503) and a Simons Grant (No. 624733), and this project is also supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 11971058, 12071197 and 12122102) and the National Key Research and Development Program of China (Grant No. 2020YFA0712900).

\*Corresponding author, E-mail: grafakosl@missouri.edu/May 12, 2022.

3	Asy	mptotics of $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ functions in terms of	
	ball	Banach Sobolev norms	19
	3.1	Density in $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	20
	3.2	A key estimate in $W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	27
	3.3	Proof of Theorem 3.36. The main result.	35
4	New	characterizations of ball Banach Sobolev spaces	39
5	Арр	lications to specific spaces	51
	5.1	Morrey spaces	52
	5.2	Mixed-norm Lebesgue spaces	55
	5.3	Weighted Lebesgue spaces	56
	5.4	Variable Lebesgue spaces	58
	5.5	Orlicz spaces	59
	5.6	Orlicz-slice spaces	61
	5.7	Lorentz spaces	62
6	Fina	l remarks	64

### **1** Introduction

For a given  $s \in (0, 1)$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , the homogeneous fractional Sobolev space  $\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , introduced by Gagliardo in [44], is defined as the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for which the semi-norm

$$\|f\|_{\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^{n + sp}} \, dx \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \tag{1.1}$$

is finite. The spaces  $W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  measure smoothness in an essential way and play fundamental roles in harmonic analysis and partial differential equations; for instance we refer to [14, 15, 20] for recent applications in Gagliardo–Nirenberg inequalities, to [75, 81, 17, 18, 85, 39, 34] for applications in the theory of Sobolev spaces, to [48, 41] for applications in the theory of Lebesgue and Besov–Sobolev spaces, and to [74, 24, 25, 77] for applications in partial differential equations.

We denote the gradient (in the sense of distributions) of a weakly differentiable function f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  by  $\nabla f := (\partial_1 f, \dots, \partial_n f)$  and, for any  $j \in \{1, \dots, n\}$ ,  $\partial_j f$  denotes the *j*-th weak derivative of f, namely, for any  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the set of all infinitely differentiable functions with compact support),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)\partial_j \phi(x) \, dx = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \partial_j f(x) \phi(x) \, dx.$$

A well-known *deficiency* of the Gagliardo semi-norm in (1.1) is that  $||f||_{\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  does not converge to the homogeneous Sobolev semi-norm  $||f||_{\dot{W}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := |||\nabla f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  when  $s \to 1^-$  (by  $s \to 1^$ we mean  $s \in (0, 1)$  and  $s \to 1$ ). Indeed, if f is a non-constant measurable function on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , then  $||f||_{\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \to \infty$  as  $s \to 1^-$ ; see [12, 21, 22]. This 'defect' was nicely amended by Bourgain, Brezis, and Mironescu in their fundamental work [22] on this topic. On general smooth and

2

bounded domains  $\Omega$ , the idea in [22] was to recover  $\||\nabla f|\|_{L^p(\Omega)}$  as the limit of the expressions  $(1 - s)\|f\|_{\dot{W}^{s,p}(\Omega)}^p$  as  $s \to 1^-$ . Later, Brezis [12] extended this formula to the entire  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Today the following identity is referred to as the Bourgain–Brezis–Mironescu (BBM) formula on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ : precisely, for any  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and any  $f \in \dot{W}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  one has

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^{n + sp}} \, dy \, dx = \frac{K(p, n)}{p} \, \||\nabla f|\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p, \tag{1.2}$$

where

$$K(p,n) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} |\xi \cdot e|^p \, d\sigma(\xi) = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n-1}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{p+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{p+n}{2}\right)} \tag{1.3}$$

with *e* being some unit vector in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $d\sigma(\xi)$  the surface Lebesgue measure on the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The fact that the constant K(p,n) is independent of the choice of  $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  can be seen by changing variables via an orthogonal transformation of the sphere. The precise value of the constant can be derived by the identity in Appendix D3 in [47]. This is done at the end of the paper.

We refer to [11] for applications of BBM formula on Triebel–Lizorkin spaces, to [23] concerning limiting embeddings of fractional Sobolev spaces, to [49, 72] on metric measure spaces, and to [35, 100, 76, 86, 82, 70, 40] concerning other applications in the theory of Sobolev spaces.

Next we discuss a few ideas from the proof of (1.2) in [12]. In view of the fact that the set of twice continuously differentiable functions with compact support,  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , is dense in  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it suffices to first prove (1.2) for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and then extend it to  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Here and thereafter, for any given  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , the *inhomogeneous Sobolev space*  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined to be the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for which the following norm is finite

$$||f||_{W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := ||f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} + |||\nabla f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Since the norm of  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  has an explicit expression, Brezis in [12] proved the validity of the BBM formula for  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  via a change of variables and Fubini's theorem. Then using a known classical characterization of  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see [13, Proposition 9.3]), whose proof strongly depends on the translation invariance of the Lebesgue measure, one can extend the BBM formula from  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Thus, both translation invariance and the explicit expression of the  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  norm play a vital role in the proof of the BBM formula (1.2) in [12].

Recently, Brezis, Van Schaftingen, and Yung [19] discovered an alternative way to amend the aforementioned continuity *deficiency* of the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{W}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  in (1.1) as  $s \to 1^-$ . They showed that replacing the  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  norm in (1.1) by  $L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  (the weak  $L^p$  quasi-norm) produces an expression equivalent to  $\||\nabla f|\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  when s = 1. Later, Dai et al. [33] extended the result in [19] to ball Banach function spaces (Definition 2.1). Given these recent advances, it is quite natural to ask whether or not the BBM formula holds for general ball Banach function spaces. In this article we precisely answer this question in a positive way.

Ball (quasi-)Banach function spaces were introduced by Sawano et al. [93] in an attempt to unify the study of several important function spaces. In particular, ball (quasi-)Banach function spaces include Morrey spaces, mixed-norm Lebesgue spaces, weighted Lebesgue spaces, variable Lebesgue spaces, Orlicz spaces, Orlicz-slice spaces, and Lorentz spaces (see, respectively, Subsections 5.1 through 5.7 below for definitions and historical notes). Topics related to ball

(quasi-)Banach function spaces can be found in [26, 90, 93, 105, 106] (concerning Hardy spaces associated with them), in [51, 101, 107] (on the boundedness of operators between them), and in [55, 59, 60, 98, 102] (for further applications).

As a somewhat surprising consequence of our work, the following BBM formula holds: for any given  $q \in (1, \infty)$  and  $p \in [1, q]$ , and for any  $f \in \dot{W}^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1 - s) \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{n + sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{q}{p}} \, dx \right\}^{\frac{p}{q}} \\ = \frac{K(p, n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \tag{1.4}$$

with K(p, n) as in (1.3). So the appearance of the mixed norm on the left does not alter the limiting behavior of the expression as  $s \to 1^-$ . In the case of q = p, (1.4) just reduces to (1.2).

In this article we establish the following analogue of (1.2) for a given ball Banach function space *X* that satisfies some mild additional hypotheses (see Theorems 4.12): given  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $|\nabla f| \in X$  we have

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_X^p.$$
(1.5)

Formula (1.5) yields asymptotics for the fractional Sobolev-type semi-norm involving differences of the function f as  $s \to 1^-$ . Finding an appropriate way to study asymptotics and/or to characterize functions in terms of their finite differences is a notoriously difficult problem in approximation theory, even for certain simple weighted Lebesgue spaces in one dimension (see [66, 73] and the references therein). A major difficulty arises from the fact that the difference operators  $\Delta_h f := f(\cdot + h) - f(\cdot)$  for  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  may be unbounded on weighted Lebesgue spaces.

The main contribution of this work in proving (1.5) is to overcome the difficulties caused by the deficiency of the explicit expression and the translation invariance of the norm of X; both of these are quite crucial in the proof of the BBM formula on  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We bypass the issue of the deficiency of the explicit expression of the norm of X by exploiting the local doubling property of X (Definition 2.10); see Theorem 2.13. Secondly we extend the BBM formula to the entire ball Banach Sobolev space (Theorem 3.4), via extrapolation [31] and the boundedness of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator. To achieve this goal we establish an extension lemma on general ball Banach function spaces (Lemma 3.34) by first obtaining a key estimate on weighted Lebesgue spaces equipped with Muckenhoupt weights (Lemma 3.23). Note that our expression in (3.12) is no longer the integral  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \cdots dx dy$ , but the integral  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \cdots dy \right] \omega(x) dx$ , which is not symmetric with respect to x and y. This causes additional technical difficulties in the proof of this weighted estimate. Indeed, the proof of Lemma 3.23 is fairly nontrivial because the proof in the unweighted case in [12] heavily depends on the translation invariance of the  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  norm, which seems to be inapplicable in the weighted case here. To overcome this obstacle, we make full use of fine geometric properties of systems of adjacent dyadic cubes in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (see, for instance, [69, Section 2.2]) and appeal to the Poincaré inequality. The main result of this article is precisely stated in Theorem 3.36.

This article is organized as follows: Section 2 is devoted to the proof of Theorem 2.7 which provides a special case of our main result for  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  functions. This section begins with preliminaries regarding ball Banach function spaces. Then we introduce Sobolev spaces associated with ball Banach function spaces by defining a new Sobolev-type space  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , called the ball Banach Sobolev space (see Definition 2.6). In this section, we also introduce the concept of the locally  $\beta$ -doubling condition (see Definition 2.10) to overcome the difficulty caused by the deficiency of the explicit expression of the norm of X and show the sufficiency of the locally  $\beta$ -doubling condition, namely, Lemma 2.18. Finally, we obtain the BBM formula on ball Banach function spaces for  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  functions.

The purpose of Section 3 is to generalize the BBM formula (1.2) to ball Banach function spaces; this result is contained in Theorem 3.4. To achieve this, we first prove that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  under some mild additional hypotheses on X (see Corollary 3.19). Thus, to prove Theorem 3.4, it is sufficient to establish the key estimate (3.12) on weighted Lebesgue spaces (see Lemma 3.23), which characterizes the relation between the  $\dot{W}_{\omega}^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  semi-norm and the  $\dot{W}_{\omega}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ semi-norm, and which plays an essential role in the process of extending (3.2) from  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  functions to  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  functions. Finally, we prove Theorem 3.4 via the approach of the extrapolation which connects ball Banach function spaces and weighted Lebesgue spaces.

In Section 4, borrowing some ideas from [22], we establish the lower estimate of (1.5) (see Theorem 4.1). Moreover, the upper estimate of (1.5) comes from the BBM formula in ball Banach function spaces, namely, Theorem 3.4. Combining these two estimates, we further establish the characterization of the ball Banach Sobolev space  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see Theorem 4.8).

In Section 5, we apply the results obtained in Sections 2, 3, and 4, respectively, to  $X := M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the Morrey space),  $X := L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the variable Lebesgue space),  $X := L^{\vec{p}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the mixed-norm Lebesgue space),  $X := L_{\omega}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the weighted Lebesgue space),  $X := L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the Orlicz space),  $X := (E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the Orlicz-slice space or the generalized amalgam space), and  $X := L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (the Lorentz space).

We outline the basics of our notation. We let  $\mathbb{N} := \{1, 2, ...\}$  and  $\mathbb{Z}_+ := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . We denote by  $C_c^k(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $C_c^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the space of all *k*-order  $(k \in \mathbb{N})$  continuously differentiable functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with compact support, and the space of all infinitely differentiable functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with compact support, respectively. The space of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with compact support is denoted by  $C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We use the symbol  $\mathscr{M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for the space of all measurable functions on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In addition, we denote by  $L_{loc}^1(0, \infty)$  [resp.,  $L_{loc}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ] the set of all locally integrable functions on  $(0, \infty)$  (resp., on  $\mathbb{R}^n)$ ). For any function f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we let  $\sup (f) := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) \neq 0\}$ . The letter C will represent a *positive constant* which is independent of the main parameters, but may vary from line to line. We also use  $C_{(\alpha,\beta,\ldots)}$  to indicate a positive constant depending on the underlying parameters  $\alpha, \beta, \ldots$ . The symbol  $f \leq g$  means that  $f \leq Cg$ . If  $f \leq g$  and  $g \leq f$ , we then write  $f \sim g$ . If  $f \leq Cg$  and g = h or  $g \leq h$ , we then write  $f \lesssim g \sim h$  or  $f \lesssim g \lesssim h$ , *rather than*  $f \lesssim g = h$  or  $f \lesssim g \leq h$ . We use **0** to denote the *origin* of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . If E is a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we denote by  $\mathbf{1}_E$  its *characteristic function* and, for any bounded measurable set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $|E| \neq 0$ , and  $f \in L_{loc}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , let

$$\int_E f(x) \, dx := \frac{1}{|E|} \int_E f(x) \, dx =: f_E.$$

The Lebesgue measure of a measurable set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is indicated by |E|. In addition, we denote by  $\sigma$  the surface Lebesgue measure on the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . A *cube* in this article will always have

its edges parallel to the coordinate axes, and need not be open or closed. We use  $\ell(Q)$  to denote the side length of a cube Q of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . For any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $r \in (0, \infty)$ , we let  $B(x, r) := \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x-y| < r\}$  and

$$\mathbb{B} := \{B(x, r): x \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } r \in (0, \infty)\}.$$
(1.6)

For any  $\alpha \in (0, \infty)$  and any ball  $B := B(x_B, r_B)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , with  $x_B \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $r_B \in (0, \infty)$ , let  $\alpha B := B(x_B, \alpha r_B)$ . Finally, for any  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , we denote by q' its *conjugate exponent*, which satisfies 1/q + 1/q' = 1.

# 2 Asymptotics of $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ functions in terms of ball Banach Sobolev norms

In this section, we prove identity (1.5) on ball Banach function spaces for functions  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This space is an important subclass of functions for which Theorem 3.4 is valid.

We review the basics related to ball quasi-Banach function spaces as introduced in [93].

**Definition 2.1.** A quasi-Banach space *X* of complex-valued functions defined on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , equipped with a quasi-norm  $\|\cdot\|_X$  [which is defined on the entire  $\mathscr{M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ], is called a *ball quasi-Banach function space* (in short, BQBF *space*) if it satisfies

- (i)  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $||f||_X = 0$  imply that f = 0 almost everywhere;
- (ii)  $f, g \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $|g| \le |f|$  almost everywhere imply that  $||g||_X \le ||f||_X$ ;
- (iii)  $\{f_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathscr{M}(\mathbb{R}^n), f \in \mathscr{M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $0 \leq f_m \uparrow f$  almost everywhere as  $m \to \infty$  imply that  $\|f_m\|_X \uparrow \|f\|_X$  as  $m \to \infty$ ;
- (iv)  $B \in \mathbb{B}$  implies that  $\mathbf{1}_B \in X$ , where  $\mathbb{B}$  is as in (1.6).

Moreover, a ball quasi-Banach function space *X* is called a *ball Banach function space* (in short, BBF *space*) if the quasi-norm of *X* satisfies the triangle inequality: for any  $f, g \in X$ ,

$$||f + g||_X \le ||f||_X + ||g||_X,$$

and that, for any  $B \in \mathbb{B}$ , there exists a positive constant  $C_{(B)}$  so that for any  $f \in X$  we have

$$\int_B |f(x)| \, dx \le C_{(B)} ||f||_X.$$

- **Remark 2.2.** (i) Let X be a ball quasi-Banach function space. By [103, Remark 2.6(i)] (see also [104]), we conclude that, for any  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $||f||_X = 0$  if and only if f = 0 almost everywhere.
  - (ii) As was mentioned in [103, Remark 2.6(ii)] (see also [104]), we obtain an equivalent formulation of Definition 2.1 via replacing any ball *B* therein by any bounded measurable set E.

- (iii) We point out that, in Definition 2.1(iv), if we replace the balls *B* by arbitrary measurable sets *E* with  $|E| < \infty$ , we obtain the definition of (quasi-)Banach function spaces which were originally introduced in [10, Definition 1.1 and 1.3]. Thus, a (quasi-)Banach function space is also a ball (quasi-)Banach function space.
- (iv) By [36, Theorem 2], we conclude that both (ii) and (iii) of Definition 2.1 imply that any ball quasi-Banach function space is complete.
- (v) From both (iv) and (ii) of Definition 2.1, it is easy to deduce that  $C_c(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset X$ .

We now introduce the concept of the approximation of the identity of radial type on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . In the sequel,  $\epsilon \to 0^+$  means  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\epsilon \to 0$ .

**Definition 2.3.** A family  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  of locally integrable functions on  $(0,\infty)$  is called an *approximation of the identity of radial type on*  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (for short, a *radial*-ATI) if, for any  $\epsilon \in (0,\infty)$ ,  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  is nonnegative, it satisfies

$$\int_0^\infty \rho_\epsilon(r) r^{n-1} dr = 1, \qquad (2.1)$$

and, for any  $\delta \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr = 0.$$
(2.2)

Moreover, an approximation of the identity of radial type on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$ , is called a *decreasing* approximation of the identity of radial type on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (for short, a *decreasing-radial*-ATI) if, for any given  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  is decreasing on  $(0, \infty)$ .

For the convenience of the reader, we present two decreasing-radial-ATIs here. We refer the reader to [12, 22] for more examples of (decreasing-)radial-ATIs. These two examples are as follows, which can be found, for instance, in [47, Example 1.2.17] or [95, p. 111].

**Example 2.4.** Let  $\phi$  be a nonnegative bounded decreasing radial integrable function on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that supp  $(\phi) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, 1)$  and  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(x) dx = 1$ , and let

$$\rho_{\epsilon}(r) := \frac{1}{\sigma(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})} \epsilon^{-n} \phi(\epsilon^{-1}r)$$

for any  $r \in (0, \infty)$  and for any given  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ . Then  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  is a decreasing-radial-ATI.

**Example 2.5.** For any given  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$  and for any  $r \in (0, \infty)$ , let

$$\rho_{\epsilon}(r) := \frac{1}{\sigma(\mathbb{S}^{n-1})} \frac{1}{(4\pi\epsilon)^{n/2}} e^{-r^2/4\epsilon}$$

Then  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  is a decreasing-radial-ATI.

Next, we extend the concept of Sobolev spaces to ball Banach function spaces.

**Definition 2.6.** Let *X* be a ball Banach function space. The *ball Banach Sobolev space*  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined to be the set of all the measurable functions *f* on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that

$$||f||_{W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := ||f||_X + |||\nabla f||_X < \infty,$$

where  $\nabla f := (\partial_1 f, \dots, \partial_n f)$  is the distributional gradient of f.

The main result of this section is the following theorem, which provides a generalization of the BBM formula in  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; this plays a vital role in the proof of Theorem 3.4 below.

**Theorem 2.7.** Let X be a ball Banach function space,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a radial-ATI. Assume that X and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}$  satisfy that, for any given  $M \in (0, \infty)$ , there exists an  $N \in (0, \infty)$  such that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{\rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|)}{|\cdot - y|^p} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_X = 0.$$
(2.3)

Then, for any  $f \in C^2_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = K(p, n) \, \||\nabla f|\|_X^p, \tag{2.4}$$

where K(p, n) is as in (1.3).

Proof. We first focus our attention to proving that

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p \le K(p, n) \, \||\nabla f|\|_X^p.$$
(2.5)

Since  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it follows that there exists a ball B(0, M) with  $M \in (0, \infty)$  such that supp (f) is contained in B(0, M). Let  $N \in (2M + 1, \infty)$  and  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ . Then

$$J_{\epsilon} := \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X$$
$$\leq J_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta) + J_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta, N) + J_{\epsilon}^{(3)}(N), \tag{2.6}$$

where

$$J_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta) := \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot -y| < \delta\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X},$$
  
$$J_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta, N) := \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: \delta \le |\cdot -y| < 2N\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X},$$

and

$$J_{\epsilon}^{(3)}(N) := \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: |\cdot -y| \ge 2N\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot -y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X$$

We first consider  $J_{\epsilon}^{(3)}(N)$ . Observe that, for any  $x, y \in [B(0, M)]^{\mathbb{C}}$ , |f(x) - f(y)| = 0. Moreover, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying  $|x| \in [M, N)$ , we have  $B(0, M) \cap \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x - y| \ge 2N\} = \emptyset$ . From these facts and (2.1), we deduce that, for any given  $N \in (2M + 1, \infty)$  and for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$  we have

 $J_{\epsilon}^{(3)}(N)$ 

$$\leq \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot -y| \ge 2N\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X} \\ + \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M) \cap \{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot -y| \ge 2N\}} \frac{|f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},N) \setminus B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X} \\ + \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{|f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ \lesssim N^{-1} \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|\mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)}\|_{X} \\ + \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{\rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|)}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ \sim N^{-1} + \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{\rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot -y|)}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X}.$$

By this and (2.3), we conclude that, for any given sufficiently large  $N \in (2M + 1, \infty)$ ,

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} J_{\epsilon}^{(3)}(N) \lesssim N^{-1}$$

This further implies that, for any given  $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$ , there exists an  $N \in (2M + 1, \infty)$  such that

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} J_{\epsilon}^{(3)}(N) < \zeta.$$
(2.7)

Then we fix an  $N \in (2M + 1, \infty)$  such that (2.7) holds and we estimate  $J_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta, N)$ . Observe that, for any  $x \in [B(\mathbf{0}, 2N + M)]^{\mathbb{C}}$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying  $|x - y| \in [\delta, 2N)$ , f(x) = f(y) = 0 from the support condition of f. Moreover, since  $f \in C_{c}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , from the mean value theorem and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, it follows that, for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ ,

$$|f(x) - f(y)| \le || |\nabla f| ||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |x - y|.$$

Using these and (2.2), we conclude that, for any  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} &J_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta, N) \\ &= \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: \ \delta \leq |\cdot - y| < 2N\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0}, 2N+M)} \right\|_{X} \\ &\leq \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: \ \delta \leq |\cdot - y| < 2N\}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0}, 2N+M)} \right\|_{X} \\ &\leq \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \, \| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0}, 2N+M)} \|_{X} \left[ \sigma(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) \, \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \to 0 \end{aligned}$$

as  $\epsilon \to 0^+$ , which implies that

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} J_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta, N) = 0.$$
(2.8)

Finally, we deal with term  $J_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta)$ . Notice that, for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , if  $|f(x) - f(y)| \neq 0$  and  $|x - y| < \delta$ , then  $x \in B(0, M + 1)$ . By this, together with Minkowski's inequality and the assumption that X is a BBF space, we obtain, for any  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$J_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta) = \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \int_{0}^{\delta} \frac{|f(\cdot + r\xi) - f(\cdot)|^{p}}{r^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr d\sigma(\xi) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0}, M+1)} \right\|_{X}$$
  
$$\leq J_{\epsilon}^{(1,1)}(\delta) + J_{\epsilon}^{(1,2)}(\delta), \qquad (2.9)$$

where

$$J_{\epsilon}^{(1,1)}(\delta) := \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \int_0^{\delta} |\xi \cdot \nabla f(\cdot)|^p \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \, d\sigma(\xi) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M+1)} \right\|_X$$

and

$$J_{\epsilon}^{(1,2)}(\delta) := \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \int_{0}^{\delta} \left| \frac{f(\cdot + r\xi) - f(\cdot)}{r} - \xi \cdot \nabla f(\cdot) \right|^{p} \right. \\ \left. \times \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \, d\sigma(\xi) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M+1)} \right\|_{X}.$$

Since  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , from Taylor's remainder theorem, it follows that, for any  $x := (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $r \in (0, \delta]$ , and  $\xi := (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n) \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ , there exists a  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$f(x+r\xi) = f(x) + r\xi \cdot \nabla f(x) + r^2 \sum_{i,j=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 f(x+\theta r\xi)}{2\partial x_i \partial x_j} \xi_i \xi_j$$

This, combined with the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, implies that there exists a positive constant  $C_{(f)}$ , depending only on f, such that, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $r \in (0, \delta]$ , and  $\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ ,

$$\left|\frac{f(x+r\xi)-f(x)}{r}-\xi\cdot\nabla f(x)\right| \le n^2 C_{(f)}r \le n^2 C_{(f)}\delta.$$

Using this and (2.1), we conclude that, for any given  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} J_{\epsilon}^{(1,2)}(\delta) &\leq n^{2} C_{(f)} \delta \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M+1)} \right\|_{X} \left[ \sigma(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) \int_{0}^{\delta} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq n^{2} C_{(f)} \delta \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M+1)} \right\|_{X} \left[ \sigma(\mathbb{S}^{n-1}) \right]^{1/p}, \end{aligned}$$

which further implies that

$$J_{\epsilon}^{(1,2)}(\delta) \le C_{(f,n)}\delta,\tag{2.10}$$

1

where  $C_{(f,n)}$  is a positive constant depending only on both f and n. For  $J_{\epsilon}^{(1,1)}(\delta)$ , by the assumption that supp  $(f) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, M)$  and (2.1), we have, for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$J_{\epsilon}^{(1,1)}(\delta) = \left[ K(p,n) \int_0^{\delta} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left\| |\nabla f| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M+1)} \right\|_X$$

$$= \left[ K(p,n) \int_0^\delta \rho_\epsilon(r) r^{n-1} dr \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} |||\nabla f|||_X$$
  
$$\leq [K(p,n)]^{1/p} |||\nabla f|||_X$$

with K(p, n) as in (1.3). This, together with (2.6) and (2.9), yields that, for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$J_{\epsilon} \leq [K(p,n)]^{1/p} \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_{X} + J_{\epsilon}^{(1,2)}(\delta) + J_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta,N) + J_{\epsilon}^{(3)}(N).$$

Combining this inequality with (2.7), (2.8), and (2.10), it follows that, for any  $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  one has

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} J_{\epsilon} \leq [K(p,n)]^{1/p} || |\nabla f| ||_X + C_{(f,n)} \delta + \zeta.$$

By this and the arbitrariness of both  $\delta$  and  $\zeta$ , we finally obtain

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_\epsilon(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p \le K(p, n) \, \||\nabla f|\|_X^p,$$

which implies the validity of (2.5).

Based on (2.5), to prove (2.4), it suffices to show that

$$K(p,n) \| |\nabla f| \|_{X}^{p} \le \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p}.$$
(2.11)

Since  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , from the Taylor expansion and the mean value theorem, it follows that there exists a positive constant *L* such that, for any  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|f(x+h) - f(x) - h \cdot \nabla f(x)| \le L|h|^2.$$

Using this, we find that, for any  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|h \cdot \nabla f(x)| \le |f(x+h) - f(x)| + L|h|^2.$$
(2.12)

Recall that, for any  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ , there is a positive constant  $C_{\theta}$  such that, for any  $a, b \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$(a+b)^p \le (1+\theta)a^p + C_\theta b^p$$

(see, for instance, [12, p. 699]). By this and (2.12), we conclude that, for any  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$|h \cdot \nabla f(x)|^{p} \le (1+\theta)|f(x+h) - f(x)|^{p} + C_{\theta}L^{p}|h|^{2p},$$

which further implies that

$$\left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} \frac{|h \cdot \nabla f(\cdot)|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X} \\ \leq (1+\theta)^{1/p} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} \frac{|f(\cdot+h) - f(\cdot)|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X}$$

Feng Dai, Loukas Grafakos, Zhulei Pan, Dachun Yang, Wen Yuan and Yangyang Zhang

+ 
$$(C_{\theta}L^{p})^{1/p} \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} |h|^{p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X}.$$
 (2.13)

Observe that, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\int_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} \frac{|h \cdot \nabla f(x)|^p}{|h|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh = K(p,n) |\nabla f(x)|^p \int_0^1 \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr$$

and, by (2.1) and (2.2), we conclude that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} |h|^p \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh = 0$$

(see, for instance, [12, p. 700]). Using these, the assumption that supp  $(f) \subset B(0, M)$ , (2.1), (2.2), and (2.13), we conclude that, for any given  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\begin{split} K(p,n) \| |\nabla f| \|_{X}^{p} \\ &= K(p,n) \| |\nabla f| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \|_{X}^{p} \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{0}^{1} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \\ &= \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ K(p,n) |\nabla f| \int_{0}^{1} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &= \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} \frac{|h \cdot \nabla f(\cdot)|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &\leq (1+\theta) \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} \frac{|f(\cdot+h) - f(\cdot)|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \right\|_{X}^{p} \end{split}$$

From this, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} K(p,n) &\| |\nabla f| \|_{X}^{p} \\ \leq \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(0,1)} \frac{|f(\cdot+h) - f(\cdot)|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,M)} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ \leq \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| \leq 1\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,M)} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ \leq \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,M)} \right\|_{X}^{p} . \end{split}$$

This implies that (2.11) holds and then finishes the proof of Theorem 2.7.

Now, we compare the results of Theorem 2.7 with the classical BBM formula in [12, Theorems 2 and 3].

.

**Remark 2.8.** If  $X := L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  is a radial-ATI, then (2.4) is valid. Indeed, for any given  $M \in (0,\infty)$ , let  $N \in (2M + 1,\infty)$ . By some simple calculations, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{\rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|)}{|\cdot - y|^p} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \\ &\leq \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\rho_{\epsilon}(|h|)}{|h|^p} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N/2)}(h) \, dh \, dy \\ &\lesssim \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{N/2}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr = 0. \end{split}$$

In this case, Theorem 2.7 is just [12, Theorems 2 and 3] restricted to  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Definition 2.9.** [93, Definition 2.6] Assume that *X* is a ball quasi-Banach function space and let  $p \in (0, \infty)$ . The *p*-convexification of *X* is defined as the space  $X^p := \{f \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{R}^n) : |f|^p \in X\}$  equipped with the quasi-norm  $||f||_{X^p} := ||f|^p||_X^{1/p}$ .

For instance the 1/p-convexification of  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and of weak  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is weak  $L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . We now introduce the following locally  $\beta$ -doubling concept of ball quasi-Banach function spaces.

**Definition 2.10.** Let *X* be a ball quasi-Banach function space and  $\beta \in (0, \infty)$ . Then *X* is said to be *locally*  $\beta$ -*doubling* if there exists a positive constant *C* such that, for any  $B := B(\mathbf{0}, r) \in \mathbb{B}$  with  $r \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$ ,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X} \leq C\alpha^{\beta} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X}.$$

The following proposition is a direct conclusion of both Definitions 2.9 and 2.10.

**Proposition 2.11.** Let X be a ball quasi-Banach function space,  $\beta \in (0, \infty)$ , and  $p \in (0, \infty)$ . Then X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling if and only if  $X^p$  is locally  $\beta$ /p-doubling.

*Proof.* From the definition of  $X^p$ , we deduce that, for any  $B := B(0, r) \in \mathbb{B}$  with  $r \in (0, \infty)$ , and for any  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$ ,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X^{p}} = \|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X}^{1/p} \lesssim \alpha^{\beta/p} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X}^{1/p} \sim \alpha^{\beta/p} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X^{p}}$$

if and only if

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X} = \|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X^{p}}^{p} \leq \alpha^{\beta} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X^{p}}^{p} \sim \alpha^{\beta} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X}.$$

This finishes the proof of Proposition 2.11.

The following lemma shows the sufficiency of the condition (2.3) in Theorem 2.7.

**Lemma 2.12.** Let X be a ball Banach function space,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasingradial-ATI. Assume that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Then given  $M \in (0, \infty)$ there exists an  $N \in (0, \infty)$  such that (2.3) is valid.

*Proof.* Given M > 0 we pick  $N \in (2M + 1, \infty)$ . Observe that, for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying  $|x| \in [N, \infty)$  and  $|y| \in [0, M)$ , we must have |x - y| > |x|/2. Using this fact and the assumption that  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  is decreasing on  $(0, \infty)$  for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ , we conclude that, for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\left[\int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)}\frac{1}{|\cdot-y|^p}\rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot-y|)\,dy\right]^{\frac{1}{p}}\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)}\Big\|_X$$

$$\lesssim \left\| \frac{\left[ \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot|/2) \right]^{1/p}}{|\cdot|} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_X.$$

Using this estimate, the assumption that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling when  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ , that  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  is decreasing on  $(0, \infty)$  for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ , Hölder's inequality for series, and (2.2), we deduce that

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{1}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ & \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left\| \frac{[\rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot|/2)]^{1/p}}{|\cdot|} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j}N) \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2^{j-1}N)} \right\|_{X} \\ & \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{-1} [\rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-2}N)]^{1/p} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j}N)} \right\|_{X} \\ & \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{\beta-1} [\rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-2}N)]^{1/p} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} \right\|_{X} \\ & \lesssim \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{n} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-2}N) \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{(\beta-1-n/p)p'} \right]^{\frac{1}{p'}} \\ & \lesssim \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j-3}N) \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2^{j-2}N)} \rho_{\epsilon}(|x|) \, dx \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ & \sim \left[ \int_{N/4}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \to 0 \end{split}$$

as  $\epsilon \to 0^+$ . This finishes the proof of Lemma 2.12.

As a consequence of both Theorem 2.7 and Lemma 2.12, we derive the following conclusion.

**Theorem 2.13.** Let X be a ball Banach function space,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasingradial-ATI. Assume that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Then (2.4) holds for any function  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Remark 2.14.** Let  $q \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\{\rho_\epsilon\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasing-radial-ATI. In this case, *X* is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta = n/q$ . Thus, when  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , *X* is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$  if and only if n(1/q - 1/p) < 1. From this we deduce that if n(1/q - 1/p) < 1, then for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$
$$= K(p, n) \, \| \left| \nabla f \right| \, \|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \, . \tag{2.14}$$

As a consequence of Theorem 2.13, we have the following conclusion.

**Theorem 2.15.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Assume that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Then, for any function  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \||\nabla f|\|_X^p, \tag{2.15}$$

with K(p, n) as in (1.3).

Before we prove Theorem 2.15, we provide two observations related to both Theorems 2.13 and 2.15. In what follows, for a given  $p \in (0, \infty)$ , we denote by  $L_{loc}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  the space of all the measurable functions whose *p*-th power is integrable over compact subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^{n}$ .

**Remark 2.16.** (i) Let  $q \in [1, \infty)$  and  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In this case, X is locally n/q-doubling. Thus, when  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , X is locally n/q-doubling with  $n/q \in (0, 1 + n/p)$  if and only if n(1/q - 1/p) < 1. From this and Theorem 2.15 we deduce that, if n(1/q - 1/p) < 1, then for any function  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1 - s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n + sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p}$$
$$= \frac{K(p, n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \, . \tag{2.16}$$

Thus, Theorem 2.15 with  $X = L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and p = q is exactly the classical BBM formula (1.2) for  $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  functions, while the case  $p \neq q$  is new.

(ii) Let  $p, q \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy  $n \max\{0, 1/q - 1/p\} < s < 1$ . By [54, Theorem 1.3], we conclude that, if  $f \in L_{loc}^{\min\{q,p\}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then  $f \in F_{q,p}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if

$$\mathbf{I} := \|f\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$$

and, moreover, in this case,

$$\mathbf{I} \sim \|f\|_{F^s_{a,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \tag{2.17}$$

with the positive equivalence constants independent of f, where  $F_{q,p}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denotes the classical Triebel–Lizorkin spaces (see [99, Section 2.3] for the precise definition). Using (2.17) we have that, for any given  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$ ,  $F_{p,p}^s(\mathbb{R}^n) = W^{s,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with equivalent norms. Also, from [54, Theorem 1.5], we deduce that, under the assumptions that p,  $q \in [1, \infty)$ , then (2.17) is valid only if  $n \max\{0, 1/q - 1/p\} \le s < 1$ . Moreover, using both (i) and (ii) of [33, Theorem 3.2] we conclude that, when s = 1, then

$$\left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+p}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \infty$$

unless f is a constant. Thus, the Gagliardo semi-norm in (2.17) does *not* recover the Triebel– Lizorkin semi-norm  $\|\cdot\|_{F_{a,p}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  as  $s \to 1^-$ . (Recall the well-known identity  $F_{q,2}^1(\mathbb{R}^n) =$   $W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with equivalent norms; see [99]). In this sense, the assumption n(1/q - 1/p) < 1 in (i) is optimal. This indicates that the requirement  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$  in both Theorems 2.13 and 2.15 is also optimal.

The next lemma provides an essential tool that plays a vital role in the proof of Theorem 2.15.

**Lemma 2.17.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Assume that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Then, for any  $f \in X \cap L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with compact support,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: \ |\cdot-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p} = 0.$$
(2.18)

*Proof.* Let  $f \in X \cap L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  have compact support. Then there is a ball  $B(\mathbf{0}, M)$  with  $M \in (0, \infty)$  such that  $\sup p(f) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, M)$ . Let  $N \in (2M + 1, \infty)$ . Observe that, for any  $y \in [B(\mathbf{0}, N)]^{C}$  and  $x \in [B(\mathbf{0}, M)]^{C}$ , f(y) = f(x) = 0. From this and the Minkowski inequality, we deduce that, for any  $s \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} (1-s)^{1/p} \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &\leq (1-s)^{1/p} \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ &+ (1-s)^{1/p} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{|f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ &\leq (1-s)^{1/p} \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ &+ (1-s)^{1/p} \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ &+ (1-s)^{1/p} \left\| \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \frac{|f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \\ &= : I_{s}^{(1)}(N) + I_{s}^{(2)}(N) + I_{s}^{(3)}(N). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.19)$$

We first consider  $I_s^{(1)}(N)$ . Since  $f \in X$  with supp  $(f) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, M)$ , the definition of  $I_s^{(1)}(N)$  and some simple calculations yield that

$$I_{s}^{(1)}(N) \leq (1-s)^{(2+sp)/(2p)}(sp)^{-1/p} \left\| f \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},N)} \right\|_{X} \sim (1-s)^{(2+sp)/(2p)}(sp)^{-1/p} \| f \|_{X} \to 0$$
(2.20)

as  $s \to 1^-$ . As for  $I_s^{(2)}(N)$ , observe that, for any  $s \in (1 - (2N)^{-2}, 1)$ ,  $x \in B(0, N)$ , and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying  $|x - y| \ge (1 - s)^{-1/2}$ ,

$$|y| \ge |x - y| - |x| > (1 - s)^{-1/2} - N > N.$$

From this, the assumption that  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, M)$ , and the definition of  $I_s^{(2)}(N)$ , it follows that, for any  $s \in (1 - (2N)^{-2}, 1)$ ,

$$I_s^{(2)}(N) = 0. (2.21)$$

Finally, we deal with term  $I_s^{(3)}(N)$ . Observe that, for any  $x \in [B(0, N)]^{\complement}$  and  $y \in B(0, M)$ , |x - y| > |x|/2. Using this and the assumptions that  $f \in L_{loc}^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ , we conclude that, for any  $s \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\begin{split} I_{s}^{(3)}(N) &\lesssim (1-s)^{1/p} \left[ \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} |f(y)|^{p} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left\| \frac{\mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},N)}}{|\cdot|^{s+n/p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &\lesssim (1-s)^{1/p} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{-(s+n/p)} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j}N) \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2^{j-1}N)} \right\|_{X} \\ &\lesssim (1-s)^{1/p} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{-(s+n/p)} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j}N)} \right\|_{X} \\ &\lesssim (1-s)^{1/p} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},1)} \right\|_{X} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{\beta-(s+n/p)} \\ &\sim (1-s)^{1/p} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j}N)^{\beta-(s+n/p)}, \end{split}$$

where the implicit positive constants depend on *f*. By this and the assumption that  $\beta \in (0, 1+n/p)$ , we have

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} I_s^{(3)}(N) = 0.$$

Combining this estimate with (2.20), (2.21), and (2.19) yields

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot -y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p} = 0,$$

and this completes the proof of Lemma 2.17.

*Proof of Theorem 2.15.* For any  $\epsilon \in (0, 1/p)$ , let

$$\rho_{\epsilon}(r) := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{C_{\epsilon}} \frac{\epsilon}{r^{n-\epsilon p}}, & r \in (0, \epsilon^{-1/2}), \\ 0, & r \in [\epsilon^{-1/2}, \infty), \end{cases}$$
(2.22)

where

$$C_{\epsilon} := \epsilon \int_{0}^{\epsilon^{-1/2}} r^{\epsilon p - 1} dr = \frac{1}{p \epsilon^{\epsilon p/2}}$$

Observe that  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} C_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{p}$ ,  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)} \subset L^1_{loc}(0,\infty)$  satisfy that, for any given  $\epsilon \in (0, 1/p)$ ,  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  is nonnegative and decreasing,

$$\int_0^\infty \rho_\epsilon(r) r^{n-1} \, dr = 1$$

and, for any  $\delta \in (0, \epsilon^{-1/2})$ ,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \frac{\epsilon}{C_{\epsilon}} \int_{\delta}^{\epsilon^{-1/2}} r^{\epsilon p-1} dr \le \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \frac{\epsilon}{C_{\epsilon}} \frac{\delta^{\epsilon p-1}}{\epsilon^{1/2}} = 0.$$

Thus,  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  is a decreasing-radial-ATI. From this and Theorem 2.13, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| < (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &= \lim_{s \to 1^{-}} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{p}} \frac{1-s}{|\cdot-y|^{n-(1-s)p}} \mathbf{1}_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| < (1-s)^{-1/2}\}}(y) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{p}} \frac{\epsilon}{|\cdot-y|^{n-\epsilon p}} \mathbf{1}_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| < \epsilon^{-1/2}\}}(y) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} C_{\epsilon} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot-y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &= \frac{K(p, n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{X}^{p}, \end{split}$$

which, together with the fact that  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and Lemma 2.17, further implies that

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \||\nabla f|\|_X^p.$$

This finishes the proof of Theorem 2.15.

Recall that the *Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator*  $\mathcal{M}$  is defined for any f in  $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by

$$\mathcal{M}(f)(x) := \sup_{B \ni x} \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |f(y)| \, dy, \qquad \forall \, x \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

where the supremum is taken over all the balls  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  containing *x*. The following lemma gives a sufficient condition for the locally  $\beta$ -doubling property of *X*.

**Lemma 2.18.** Let X be a ball quasi-Banach function space. Assume that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator M is weakly bounded on X, namely, there exists a positive constant C such that, for any  $f \in X$ ,

$$\sup_{\lambda \in (0,\infty)} \left[ \lambda \| \mathbf{1}_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n: \mathcal{M}(f)(x) > \lambda\}} \|_X \right] \le C \| f \|_X.$$
(2.23)

Then X is locally n-doubling.

*Proof.* Observe that for any  $B := B(0, r) \in \mathbb{B}$  with  $r \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $x \in \alpha B$ ,

$$\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_B)(x) \ge \int_{\alpha B} \mathbf{1}_B(y) \, dy = \frac{|B|}{|\alpha B|} = \frac{1}{\alpha^n}.$$

From this, the assumption that *X* is a BQBF space, and (2.23), it follows that, for any  $B \in \mathbb{B}$  and  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$ ,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X} \leq \|\mathbf{1}_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_{B})(x) > \frac{1}{2\pi}\}}\|_{X} \leq 2C\alpha^{n}\|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X}.$$

This implies that X is locally *n*-doubling, and hence finishes the proof of Lemma 2.18.

**Remark 2.19.** Lemma 2.18 yields that the locally  $\beta$ -doubling assumption on X is weaker than the assumption that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is weakly bounded on X.

As a consequence of both Theorem 2.13 and Lemma 2.18, we obtain the following crucial fact.

**Theorem 2.20.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (0, \infty)$  satisfy n(1/q - 1/p) < 1. Let  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasing-radial-ATI. Assume that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is weakly bounded on  $X^{1/q}$ . Then (2.4) is valid for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 2.18 we conclude that  $X^{1/q}$  is locally *n*-doubling. This fact combined with Proposition 2.11 implies that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta := n/q \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 2.13 are satisfied. Using Theorem 2.13, we conclude that (2.4) holds for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This finishes the proof of Theorem 2.20.

**Remark 2.21.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (0, \infty)$  satisfy n(1/q - 1/p) < 1, and  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In this case,  $X^{1/q} = L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is weakly bounded on  $X^{1/q}$ . This, together with Theorem 2.20, implies that, for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , (2.14) is valid for  $X = L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

As a consequence of Theorem 2.15, we obtain the following extension of the famous classical BBM formula (1.2) to ball Banach Sobolev spaces. The proof is similar to that used in the proof of Theorem 2.20 and we omit the details.

**Theorem 2.22.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in (0, \infty)$  satisfy n(1/q - 1/p) < 1. Assume that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator M is weakly bounded on  $X^{1/q}$ . Then (2.15) is valid for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Remark 2.23.** Let p, q, and X be as in Remark 2.21. Then it follows Theorem 2.22 that (2.16) holds for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

# **3** Asymptotics of $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ functions in terms of ball Banach Sobolev norms

In this section, we establish the main result of this work, Theorem 3.36. This is achieved via a secondary main result, Theorem 3.4. We begin by recalling the definition of ball Banach function spaces with absolutely continuous norm; see [10, Definition 3.1], [101, Definition 3.2].

**Definition 3.1.** A ball Banach function space X is said to have an *absolutely continuous norm* if, for any  $f \in X$  and any sequence of measurable sets  $\{E_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying that  $\mathbf{1}_{E_j} \to 0$  a.e. as  $j \to \infty$ , we have  $||f\mathbf{1}_{E_j}||_X \to 0$  as  $j \to \infty$ .

We also recall the following definition of the associate space of a ball Banach function space, which can be found, for instance, in [10, Chapter 1, Definitions 2.1 and 2.3].

**Definition 3.2.** For any ball Banach function space X, the *associate space* (also called the *Köthe dual*) X' is defined by

$$X' := \left\{ f \in \mathscr{M}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|f\|_{X'} := \sup_{\{g \in X: \|g\|_X = 1\}} \|fg\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty \right\},$$
(3.1)

where  $\|\cdot\|_{X'}$  is called the *associate norm* of  $\|\cdot\|_X$ .

**Remark 3.3.** By [93, Proposition 2.3] we have that the associate space X' of a ball Banach function space X is also a ball Banach function space.

**Theorem 3.4.** Let X be a ball Banach function space,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasingradial-ATI. Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm,  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space, and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ . Then for any function  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = K(p, n) \, \||\nabla f|\|_X^p.$$
(3.2)

- **Remark 3.5.** (i) Let  $1 \le p \le q < \infty$ ,  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasing-radial-ATI. In this case for any  $f \in W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (2.14) holds. Thus, Theorem 3.4 with  $X = L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  coincides with [12, Theorems 2 and 3] when p = q while the case p < q is new.
  - (ii) In contrast to Theorems 2.7, 2.13, and 2.22, we need certain minor assumptions on the underlying space X in Theorem 3.4 in order to extend the identity to  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The proof of Theorem 3.4 is given in Subsection 3.3. In Subsection 3.1 we prove that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  under some mild assumptions, while Subsection 3.2 is devoted to establishing the key estimate (3.12) in weighted Lebesgue spaces.

# **3.1** Density in $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

In what follows, we use the symbol  $W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to denote the set of all the functions in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with compact support. The main objective of this subsection is to exhibit a good dense subspaces of  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Our approach consists of two parts: we first prove that  $W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and further show that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  under a stronger hypothesis (see Propositions 3.6 and 3.8 below). We begin with the following technical proposition.

**Proposition 3.6.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm. Then  $W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be such that  $\phi(x) = 1$  for any x with  $|x| \le 1$ , and  $\phi(x) = 0$  for any x with |x| > 2. Moreover, for any  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$f_l(\cdot) := f(\cdot)\phi\left(\frac{\cdot}{l}\right). \tag{3.3}$$

Then, for any  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $f_l \in X$  with compact support. From (3.3) and [42, p. 216, Theorem 1(iv)], it follows that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$  and  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\partial_j(f_l)(\cdot) = \partial_j f(\cdot) \phi\left(\frac{\cdot}{l}\right) + f(\cdot) \frac{1}{l} \partial_j \phi\left(\frac{\cdot}{l}\right)$$

and  $\partial_i(f_l) \in X$  with compact support. Then we claim that

$$\lim_{l \to \infty} \|f_l - f\|_{W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 0.$$
(3.4)

Indeed, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|f_l(x) - f(x)| \leq \left[ ||\phi||_{L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)} + 1 \right] |f(x)| \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{B(0,l)}}(x).$$

From this and the assumption that X has an absolutely continuous norm, it follows that

$$\limsup_{l \to \infty} \|f_l - f\|_X \le \left[ \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} + 1 \right] \limsup_{l \to \infty} \left\| |f| \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{B(\mathbf{0}, l)}} \right\|_X = 0.$$
(3.5)

Moreover, observe that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ,  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\begin{split} \partial_j(f_l)(x) &- \partial_j f(x) \\ &= \left[ \phi\left(\frac{x}{l}\right) - 1 \right] \partial_j f(x) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{B(\mathbf{0},l)}}(x) + \frac{1}{l} \partial_j \phi\left(\frac{x}{l}\right) f(x). \end{split}$$

By this, we have, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ,  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_j(f_l)(x) - \partial_j f(x)| \\ &\leq \left[ ||\phi||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} + 1 \right] |\partial_j f(x)| \mathbf{1}_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{B(\mathbf{0},l)}}(x) + \frac{||\partial_j \phi||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)}}{l} |f(x)| \end{aligned}$$

Using this and the assumption that *X* has an absolutely continuous norm, we conclude that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ,

$$\limsup_{l\to\infty} \|\partial_j(f_l) - \partial_j f\|_X \lesssim \limsup_{l\to\infty} \|\partial_j f\|_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{B(\mathbf{0},l)}}\|_X + \limsup_{l\to\infty} \frac{1}{l} \|f\|_X = 0.$$

Thus, from this and (3.5) it follows that

$$||f_{l} - f||_{X} + |||\nabla f_{l} - \nabla f|||_{X} \leq ||f_{l} - f||_{X} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} ||\partial_{j}(f_{l}) - \partial_{j}f||_{X} \to 0$$

as  $l \to \infty$ . This yields the validity of (3.4), hence  $W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and this finishes the proof of Proposition 3.6.

Now, we introduce the concept of centered ball average operators.

**Definition 3.7.** Let  $r \in (0, \infty)$ . The *centered ball average operator*  $B_r$  is defined by setting, for any  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$B_r(f)(x) := \frac{1}{|B(x,r)|} \int_{B(x,r)} |f(y)| \, dy.$$

Next we address the density of  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  in  $W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  under some assumptions on X.

**Proposition 3.8.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm and that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X, namely, there exists a positive constant C such that, for any  $f \in X$  we have

$$\sup_{r \in (0,\infty)} \|B_r(f)\|_X \le C \|f\|_X.$$

Then  $C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is dense in  $W_{c}^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ .

*Proof.* Let  $f \in W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then there is a ball  $B(\mathbf{0}, M)$  with M > 0 such that  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, M)$ . Let  $\eta \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be such that  $\operatorname{supp}(\eta) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, 1)$ ,  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \eta(x) \, dx = 1$ , and  $\eta_k(\cdot) := k^n \eta(k \cdot)$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . From this and [42, p. 714, Theorem 7(i)], it follows that  $f * \eta_k \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then we claim

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|f * \eta_k - f\|_X = 0.$$
(3.6)

Indeed, since *X* has an absolutely continuous norm, from [98, Proposition 3.8], it follows that  $C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in *X*. Thus, for any  $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$  there is a  $g \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\|f - g\|_X < \zeta.$$
(3.7)

By this and the assumption that *X* is a BBF space, we conclude that, for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$||f * \eta_k - f||_X \le ||f * \eta_k - g * \eta_k||_X + ||g * \eta_k - g||_X + ||g - f||_X.$$
(3.8)

From the definition of  $\eta_k$  and the assumption that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on *X*, we deduce that, for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|f * \eta_{k} - g * \eta_{k}\|_{X} &= \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (f - g)(y) \eta_{k}(\cdot - y) \, dy \right\|_{X} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \int_{B(\cdot, k^{-1})} |(f - g)(y)| \, dy \right\|_{X} \\ &\sim \left\| B_{k^{-1}}(|f - g|) \right\|_{X} \lesssim \|f - g\|_{X} \lesssim \zeta. \end{split}$$
(3.9)

Moreover, since  $g \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it must be uniformly continuous, thus there is a ball  $B(\mathbf{0}, N)$  such that supp  $(g) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, N)$ . This fact combined with the definition of  $\eta_k$  implies that

$$\begin{split} \|g * \eta_k - g\|_X &\lesssim \left\| \left\| \int_{B(\cdot, k^{-1})} |g(y) - g(\cdot)| \, dy \right\|_X \\ &\leq \sup_{|x-y| \le k^{-1}} |g(x) - g(y)| \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0}, N+1)} \right\|_X \to 0 \end{split}$$

as  $k \to \infty$ . By this, (3.7), (3.8), and (3.9), we have, for any  $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\lim_{k\to\infty} \|f*\eta_k - f\|_X \lesssim \zeta$$

which, together with the arbitrariness of  $\zeta$ , implies that (3.6) is valid. This completes the proof of the preceding claim.

Observe that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\partial_j(f * \eta_k) = (\partial_j f) * \eta_k$  (see, for instance, [43, Proposition 8.10]). Applying this and an argument similar to that used in the proof of (3.6) (with *f* replaced by  $\partial_j f$ ), we find that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \|\partial_j (f * \eta_k) - \partial_j f\|_X = 0.$$

This fact and (3.6) yield that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W_c^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Proposition 3.8 is now proved.

The following corollary is a consequence of both Propositions 3.6 and 3.8; we omit the details.

**Corollary 3.9.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm and the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X. Then  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The proofs of both Propositions 3.6 and 3.8 yield the following; we also omit the details.

**Corollary 3.10.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm and the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X. Then  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in X.

The following lemma gives a sufficient condition for the uniform boundedness of centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  on *X*.

**Lemma 3.11.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Assume that  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ . Then the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r\in(0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X; moreover, there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p)}$ , depending only on both n and p, such that for any  $r \in (0,\infty)$  and  $f \in X$  we have

$$||B_r(f)||_X \le C_{(n,p)} ||\mathcal{M}||_{(X^{1/p})' \to (X^{1/p})'}^{2/p} ||f||_X,$$

where  $\|\mathcal{M}\|_{(X^{1/p})' \to (X^{1/p})'}$  denotes the operator norm of  $\mathcal{M}$  from  $(X^{1/p})'$  to  $(X^{1/p})'$ .

To prove Lemma 3.11, we need to borrow some ideas from the proof of the extrapolation theorem in [31, Theorem 1.4]. To this end, we first recall the definition of Muckenhoupt weights  $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see, for instance, [47, Definitions 7.1.2 and 7.1.3]).

**Definition 3.12.** An  $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -weight  $\omega$ , with  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , is a nonnegative locally integrable function on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying that, when  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,

$$[\omega]_{A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \sup_{Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q \omega(x) \, dx \right] \left\{ \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q \omega(x)^{\frac{1}{1-p}} \, dx \right\}^{p-1} < \infty,$$

and

$$[\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \sup_{Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q \omega(x) \, dx \left[ \|\omega^{-1}\|_{L^{\infty}(Q)} \right] < \infty,$$

where the suprema are taken over all cubes  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Moreover, we set

$$A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) := \bigcup_{p \in [1,\infty)} A_p(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

We also recall the definition of weighted Lebesgue spaces.

**Definition 3.13.** Let  $p \in [0, \infty)$  and  $\omega \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The *weighted Lebesgue space*  $L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined to be the space of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the property

$$\|f\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p \omega(x) \, dx\right]^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty.$$

For any measurable set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $|E| < \infty$  and  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  it is customary in this area to use the notation

$$f(E) := \int_E f(x) \, dx.$$

We recall a few facts about Muckenhoupt weights  $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The following lemma is a part of [47, Proposition 7.1.5].

**Lemma 3.14.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\omega \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then the following statements are valid.

(i)

$$[\omega]_{A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \sup_{Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n} \sup_{\substack{f \mathbf{1}_Q \in L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n) \\ \int_Q |f(t)|^p \omega(t) \, dt \in (0,\infty)}} \frac{\left[\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q |f(t)| \, dt\right]^p}{\frac{1}{\omega(Q)} \int_Q |f(t)|^p \omega(t) \, dt}$$

where the first supremum is taken over all cubes  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ .

- (ii) For any  $\lambda \in (1, \infty)$  and any cube  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , one has  $\omega(\lambda Q) \leq [\omega]_{A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lambda^{np} \omega(Q)$ .
- (iii) For any  $q \in [p, \infty)$ , one has  $\omega \in A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $[\omega]_{A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq [\omega]_{A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ .

The following lemma shows that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on weighted Lebesgue spaces.

**Lemma 3.15.** For any given  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\omega \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r\in(0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on  $L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; moreover, there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p)}$ , depending only on both n and p, such that for any  $r \in (0, \infty)$  and  $f \in L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\|B_r(f)\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C_{(n,p)}[\omega]^{2/p}_{A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|f\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

*Proof.* Since  $\omega \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , from Lemma 3.14(i) and Tonelli's theorem, it follows that for any  $r \in (0, \infty)$  and  $f \in L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |B_{r}(f)(x)|^{p} \omega(x) dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{B(x,r)} |f(y)| dy \right]^{p} \omega(x) dx$$

$$\leq [\omega]_{A_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{1}{\omega(B(x,r))} \left[ \int_{B(x,r)} |f(y)|^{p} \omega(y) dy \right] \omega(x) dx$$

$$= [\omega]_{A_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{B(y,r)} \frac{\omega(x)}{\omega(B(x,r))} dx \right] |f(y)|^{p} \omega(y) dy.$$
(3.10)

Observe that, for any  $r \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $x \in B(y, r)$  we have  $B(y, r) \subset B(x, 2r)$  which, combined with Lemma 3.14(ii), gives

$$\omega(B(y,r)) \le \omega(B(x,2r)) \le [\omega]_{A_n(\mathbb{R}^n)} \omega(B(x,r)).$$

Using this fact and (3.10) we conclude that for any  $r \in (0, \infty)$  and  $f \in L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |B_r(f)(x)|^p \omega(x) dx$$
  

$$\lesssim [\omega]_{A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{B(y,r)} \frac{\omega(x)}{\omega(B(y,r))} dx \right] |f(y)|^p \omega(y) dy$$
  

$$\sim [\omega]_{A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(y)|^p \omega(y) dy.$$

This implies that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on  $L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This completes the proof of Lemma 3.15.

The next lemma can be found in [33, Lemma 3.6] and its proof is modeled after [31, p. 18].

**Lemma 3.16.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded from X to itself with norm  $\|\mathcal{M}\|_{X\to X}$ . For any  $g \in X$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  let

$$R_X g(x) := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathcal{M}^k(g)(x)}{2^k \|\mathcal{M}\|_{X \to X}^k},$$

where for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\mathcal{M}^k := \mathcal{M} \circ \cdots \circ \mathcal{M}$  is the k-fold iteration of the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator and  $\mathcal{M}^0(g)(x) := |g(x)|$ . Then, for any  $g \in X$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  one has

- (i)  $|g(x)| \leq R_X g(x)$ ;
- (ii)  $R_X g \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $[R_X g]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 2 ||\mathcal{M}||_{X \to X};$
- (iii)  $||R_Xg||_X \le 2||g||_X$ .

To prove Lemma 3.11, we also need two key lemmas about ball Banach function spaces, namely, Lemmas 3.17 and 3.18. The following lemma is just [107, Lemma 2.6].

**Lemma 3.17.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Then X coincides with its second associate space X''. In other words,  $f \in X$  if and only if  $f \in X''$  and in that case,

$$||f||_X = ||f||_{X''}$$

The following version of Hölder's inequality is a direct consequence of both Definition 2.1(i) and (3.1) (see also [10, Theorem 2.4]).

**Lemma 3.18.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and X' its associate space. If  $f \in X$  and  $g \in X'$ , then fg is integrable and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)g(x)| \, dx \leq \|f\|_X \|g\|_{X'}.$$

*Proof of Lemma 3.11.* Using the definition of  $X^{1/p}$ , Lemma 3.17 (with X replaced by  $X^{1/p}$ ), and Lemma 3.16(i) [with X replaced by  $(X^{1/p})'$ ], it follows that, for any r > 0 and  $f \in X$  we have

$$\begin{split} \|B_{r}(f)\|_{X}^{p} &= \left\| \left|B_{r}(f)\right|^{p} \right\|_{X^{1/p}} = \left\| \left|B_{r}(f)\right|^{p} \right\|_{(X^{1/p})''} \\ &= \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |B_{r}(f)(x)|^{p} g(x) \, dx \\ &\leq \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |B_{r}(f)(x)|^{p} R_{(X^{1/p})'} g(x) \, dx. \end{split}$$

By this, both (i) and (iii) of Lemma 3.14 [with  $\omega$  replaced by  $R_{(X^{1/p})'}g(x)$ ], both (ii) and (iii) of Lemma 3.16 [with *X* replaced by  $(X^{1/p})'$ ], both Lemmas 3.15 and 3.18, and the definition of  $X^{1/p}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|B_{r}(f)\|_{X}^{p} &\lesssim \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'}=1} [R_{(X^{1/p})'}g]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f(x)|^{p} R_{(X^{1/p})'}g(x) \, dx \\ &\lesssim \|\mathcal{M}\|_{(X^{1/p})' \to (X^{1/p})'}^{2} \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'}=1} \left\| |f|^{p} \right\|_{X^{1/p}} \|R_{(X^{1/p})'}g\|_{(X^{1/p})'} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{X}^{p} \end{split}$$

for any r > 0 and  $f \in X$ . This implies that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on *X* and completes the proof of Lemma 3.11.

As a consequence of Corollaries 3.9, 3.10 and Lemma 3.11 we obtain the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.19.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm,  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space, and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ . Then  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in both X and  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Moreover, at the end of this subsection, we show that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in the weighted Sobolev space  $W_{\omega}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see Corollary 3.21 below); this plays a vital role in the next subsection. The next definition of the weighted Sobolev space can be found, for instance, in [68, Definition 3.5].

**Definition 3.20.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\omega \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The weighted Sobolev space  $W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined as the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  whose distributional gradient  $\nabla f := (\partial_1 f, \ldots, \partial_n f)$  is an  $L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  function and

$$\|f\|_{W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \|f\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)} + \||\nabla f|\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty.$$

Let  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In the sequel we denote by the  $L^{\infty}_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with

$$\|f\|_{L^{\infty}_{\omega^{-1}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left\|f\omega^{-1}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty.$$

As a consequence of Propositions 3.6 and 3.8, we obtain the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.21.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\omega \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* The fact that  $L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space is contained in [93, Section 7.1]. In view of this and Lemma 3.15, we conclude that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r\in(0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on  $L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; Moreover, by [89, Theorem 3.14], we find that  $L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  has an absolutely continuous norm. Thus, all the assumptions of Corollary 3.9 are satisfied and its conclusion is that  $C^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Corollary 3.21 is now proved.

**Remark 3.22.** When  $\omega = 1$  Corollary 3.21 is contained in [2, Theorem 7.38].

# **3.2** A key estimate in $W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

The subsequent lemma provides a key estimate in  $W^{s,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Lemma 3.23.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\rho \in L^1_{loc}(0, \infty)$  be a nonnegative and decreasing function with

$$\int_0^\infty \rho(r) r^{n-1} \, dr < \infty. \tag{3.11}$$

Assume that  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p)}$ , depending only on both nand p, such that for any  $f \in W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{p}} \rho(|x - y|) \, dy \right] \omega(x) \, dx$$
  
$$\leq C_{(n,p)} [\omega]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \| |\nabla f| \|_{L^{p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \rho(r) r^{n-1} \, dr.$$
(3.12)

**Remark 3.24.** For simplicity we only considered  $A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -weights here. However, our proof actually works for general  $A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -weights. For instance, a slight modification of the proofs in this section shows that (3.12) holds for any given  $\omega \in A_p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  when  $p \in [1, n/(n-1))$ .

We first prove Lemma 3.23 for any  $f \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (Lemma 3.30). To accomplish this we need two technical results, both Lemmas 3.26 and 3.29, which depend on the following variant of the Poincaré inequality. In what follows, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $r \in (0, \infty)$ , the  $C^1(B(x, r))$  denotes the set of all first-order continuously differentiable functions on B(x, r).

**Lemma 3.25.** ([33, Lemma 2.20]) Let  $B = B(x, r) \in \mathbb{B}$  be a ball with  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $r \in (0, \infty)$ , and  $B_1 \in \mathbb{B}$  such that  $x \in B_1 \subset B$ . Then there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n)}$ , depending only on n, such that for any  $f \in C^1(B)$  we have

$$|f(x) - f_{B_1}| \le C_{(n)} r \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j} \int_{2^{-j}B} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz.$$

The first technical lemma is as follows.

**Lemma 3.26.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\rho \in L^1_{loc}(0, \infty)$  be a nonnegative function satisfying (3.11). Assume that  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p)}$ , depending only on both n and p, such that, for any  $f \in C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left| f(x) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)} \right|^p}{|x-y|^p} \rho(|x-y|) \, dy \right] \omega(x) \, dx$$

FENG DAI, LOUKAS GRAFAKOS, ZHULEI PAN, DACHUN YANG, WEN YUAN AND YANGYANG ZHANG

$$\leq C_{(n,p)}[\omega]^2_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \| |\nabla f| \|^p_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \int_0^\infty \rho(r) r^{n-1} dr.$$

Proof. By a change of variables we write

$$I := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| f(x) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)} \right|^{p}}{|x-y|^{p}} \rho(|x-y|) \, dy \right] \omega(x) \, dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| f(x) - f_{B(x+h,2|h|)} \right|^{p}}{|h|^{p}} \rho(|h|) \, dh \right] \omega(x) \, dx.$$
(3.13)

Observe that, for any  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$B(x+h,2|h|) \subset B(x,4|h|).$$

By this, applying Lemma 3.25 [with B(x + h, 2|h|) in place of *B* and B(x, 4|h|) in place of  $B_1$ ], the assumption that  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and parts (i), (iii) of Lemma 3.14, for any  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we find that

$$\begin{split} \left| f(x) - f_{B(x+h,2|h|)} \right| \\ \lesssim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j} |h| \oint_{B(x,2^{-j+2}|h|)} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \\ \lesssim \left\{ [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j} |h| \\ \times \left[ \frac{1}{\omega(B(x,2^{-j+2}|h|))} \int_{B(x,2^{-j+2}|h|)} |\nabla f(z)|^p \omega(z) \, dz \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

From this and Hölder's inequality for series it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left| f(x) - f_{B(x+h,2|h|)} \right|^p \\ \lesssim [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{2^{-j} |h|^p}{\omega(B(x,2^{-j+2}|h|))} \int_{B(x,2^{-j+2}|h|)} |\nabla f(z)|^p \omega(z) \, dz, \end{split}$$

which, combined with (3.13), yields that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I} &\lesssim [\omega]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{1}{\omega(B(x, 2^{-j+2}|h|))} \\ &\times \left[ \int_{B(x, 2^{-j+2}|h|)} |\nabla f(z)|^{p} \omega(z) \, dz \right] \rho(|h|) \omega(x) \, dx \, dh \\ &\sim [\omega]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{B(z, 2^{-j+2}|h|)} \frac{\omega(x)}{\omega(B(x, 2^{-j+2}|h|))} \, dx \right] \\ &\times |\nabla f(z)|^{p} \omega(z) \rho(|h|) \, dz \, dh. \end{split}$$

$$(3.14)$$

Observe that for any  $z, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ , and  $x \in B(z, 2^{-j+2}|h|)$  we have

$$B(z, 2^{-j+2}|h|) \subset B(x, 2^{-j+3}|h|).$$

Using this inclusion, the assumption that  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and Lemma 3.14(ii) we conclude that

$$\omega(B(z, 2^{-j+2}|h|)) \le \omega(B(x, 2^{-j+3}|h|)) \le [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \omega(B(x, 2^{-j+2}|h|)),$$

which implies that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{B(z,2^{-j+2}|h|)} \frac{\omega(x)}{\omega(B(x,2^{-j+2}|h|))} \, dx \\ &\lesssim [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \int_{B(z,2^{-j+2}|h|)} \frac{\omega(x)}{\omega(B(z,2^{-j+2}|h|))} \, dx \sim [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)}. \end{split}$$

Combining this estimate with (3.14) we finally conclude that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{I} &\lesssim \left[\omega\right]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\nabla f(z)|^{p} \omega(z) \, dz\right] \rho(|h|) \, dh \\ &\sim \left[\omega\right]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \left\| |\nabla f| \right\|_{L_{\omega}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \rho(r) r^{n-1} \, dr. \end{split}$$

This finishes the proof of Lemma 3.26.

To prove the second technical lemma (Lemma 3.29 below), we make full use of a basic ingredient concerning  $3^n$  adjacent systems of dyadic cubes, stated below.

**Lemma 3.27.** ([69, Section 2.2]) For any  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n$ , let

$$\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} := \left\{ Q_{j,k}^{\alpha} := 2^{-j} (k + [0,1)^n + (-1)^j \alpha) : j \in \mathbb{Z}, \, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n \right\}.$$

Then

- (i) for any  $Q, Q' \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n, Q \cap Q' \in \{\emptyset, Q, Q'\};$
- (ii) for any ball  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , there exists an  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n$  and a  $Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}$  such that  $B \subset Q \subset c_{(n)}B$ , where the positive constant  $c_{(n)}$  depends only on n.

Fix an  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n$ . For any  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $\mathcal{D}_j^{\alpha} := \{Q_{j,k}^{\alpha} : k \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$  and fix a  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . For any  $Q_{j,k}^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{D}_j^{\alpha}$  with  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$  let

$$\mathfrak{N}(\mathcal{Q}_{j,k}^{\alpha}) := \left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{j,k+l}^{\alpha} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}^{\alpha} : l := (l_{1}, \dots, l_{n}) \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}, \max_{i \in \{1,\dots,n\}} |l_{i}| \leq 1 \right\}$$

and

$$N_{\mathcal{Q}_{j,k}^{\alpha}} := \bigcup_{\mathcal{Q}_{j,l}^{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{N}(\mathcal{Q}_{j,k}^{\alpha})} \mathcal{Q}_{j,l}^{\alpha}.$$
(3.15)

Then by the definitions of both  $\mathfrak{N}(Q_{j,k}^{\alpha})$  and  $N_{Q_{j,k}^{\alpha}}$ , we have

$$\sharp \mathfrak{N}(Q^{\alpha}_{j,k}) \leq 3'$$

and

$$N_{Q_{j,k}^{\alpha}}| \sim |Q_{j,k}^{\alpha}|.$$

Here and thereafter, for a finite set *E*, the *symbol*  $\sharp E$  denotes its cardinality.

Lemma 3.27 is crucial in the next result which plays a key role in the proof of Lemma 3.29.

**Lemma 3.28.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $x \neq y$ , and for  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n$  let  $Q_{x,y} \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}$  be a dyadic cube as in Lemma 3.27(ii) with B replaced by B(y, 2|x - y|), namely,

$$B(y, 2|x - y|) \subset Q_{x,y} \subset c_{(n)}B(y, 2|x - y|).$$
(3.16)

Then, for any given  $\varepsilon \in (0, p)$ , there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p,\varepsilon)}$ , depending only on n, p, and  $\varepsilon$ , such that for any  $f \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\frac{\left|f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)}\right|^p}{|x-y|^p} \le C_{(n,p,\varepsilon)} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^\alpha \\ y \in Q \subset Q_{x,y}}} \left[\frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(Q_{x,y})}\right]^{p-\varepsilon} \left[\int_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz\right]^p.$$

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $Q_{x,y} \in \mathcal{D}_{j_0}^{\alpha}$  for some  $j_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ . First by (3.16) we conclude that

$$2^{-j_0} \leq 2|x-y| \leq 2^{-j_0-1}.$$
(3.17)

From this and Lemma 3.25 (with B(y, 2|x - y|) in place of *B* and  $B(y, 2^{-j_0-1})$  in place of  $B_1$ ) we deduce that

$$|f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)}| \lesssim \sum_{j=j_0}^{\infty} 2^{-j} \int_{B(y,2^{-j-1})} |\nabla f(z)| dz.$$

Let  $\varepsilon \in (0, p)$ . Combining this estimate with (3.17) and Hölder's inequality for series yields

$$\frac{\left|f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)}\right|^{p}}{|x - y|^{p}} \sim \frac{\left|f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)}\right|^{p}}{2^{-j_{0}p}} \\ \sim \left[\sum_{j=j_{0}}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_{0})} \int_{B(y,2^{-j-1})} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz\right]^{p} \\ \lesssim \sum_{j=j_{0}}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_{0})(p-\varepsilon)} \left[\int_{B(y,2^{-j-1})} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz\right]^{p}.$$
(3.18)

By Lemma 3.27(i), for any  $j \ge j_0$ , there exists a unique dyadic cube  $Q_j^{\alpha}(y)$  in  $\mathcal{D}_j^{\alpha}$  containing y. From this and Lemma 3.27(i), it follows that  $Q_j^{\alpha}(y) \subset Q_{x,y}$ . Moreover, by the definition of  $N_{Q_j^{\alpha}(y)}$  as in (3.15), we conclude that  $B(y, 2^{-j-1}) \subset N_{Q_j^{\alpha}(y)}$ . From this and (3.18), we infer

$$\begin{split} \frac{\left|f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)}\right|^p}{|x-y|^p} &\lesssim \sum_{j=j_0}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_0)(p-\varepsilon)} \left[ \left. \oint_{N_{Q_j^{\alpha}(y)}} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \right]^p \\ &\sim \sum_{j=j_0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j^{\alpha} \\ y \in Q}} 2^{-(j-j_0)(p-\varepsilon)} \left[ \left. \oint_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \right]^p \\ &\sim \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ y \in Q \subset Q_{x,y}}} \left[ \frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(Q_{x,y})} \right]^{p-\varepsilon} \left[ \left. \oint_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \right]^p. \end{split}$$

This implies that (3.16) holds and hence finishes the proof of Lemma 3.28.

The second technical lemma of this section is as follows:

**Lemma 3.29.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\rho \in L^1_{loc}(0, \infty)$  be a nonnegative and decreasing function satisfying (3.11). Assume that  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p)}$ , depending only on both n and p, such that for any  $f \in C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)} \right|^{p}}{|x-y|^{p}} \rho(|x-y|) \, dy \right] \omega(x) \, dx \\
\leq C_{(n,p)} [\omega]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \left\| |\nabla f| \right\|_{L^{p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \int_{0}^{\infty} \rho(r) r^{n-1} \, dr.$$
(3.19)

*Proof.* Let  $c_{(n)}$  be as in Lemma 3.27. We claim that for any given  $\varepsilon \in (0, p)$  we have

$$J := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)} \right|^{p}}{|x-y|^{p}} \rho(|x-y|) \, dy \right] \omega(x) \, dx$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^{n}} \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset P}} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset P}} \left[ \int_{N_{Q}} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \right]^{p}$$

$$\times \int_{P} \left[ \int_{Q \cap [B(x, C_{(n)}\ell(P))]^{\mathbb{C}}} \rho(|x-y|) \, dy \right] \omega(x) \, dx, \qquad (3.20)$$

where

$$C_{(n)} := [4c_{(n)}]^{-1} \sqrt{n}.$$

Indeed, from Lemma 3.27(ii), it follows that, for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $x \neq y$ , there exists a dyadic cube  $Q_{x,y} \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n$  such that  $B(y, 2|x - y|) \subset Q_{x,y} \subset c_{(n)}B(y, 2|x - y|)$ . Using this, for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $x \neq y$ , we obtain

$$C_{(n)}\ell(Q_{x,y}) = [4c_{(n)}]^{-1} \sqrt{n}\ell(Q_{x,y}) \le |x-y| \le 4^{-1}\ell(Q_{x,y}).$$
(3.21)

Fixing an  $\varepsilon \in (0, p)$ , by Lemmas 3.28 and 3.27(i), and (3.21), we conclude that, for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $x \neq y$  we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\left|f(y) - f_{B(y,2|x-y|)}\right|^{p}}{|x-y|^{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ y \in Q \subset Q_{x,y}}} \left[\frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(Q_{x,y})}\right]^{p-\varepsilon} \left[\int_{N_{Q}} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz\right]^{p} \\ &\sim \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset Q_{x,y}}} \left[\frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(Q_{x,y})}\right]^{p-\varepsilon} \left[\int_{N_{Q}} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz\right]^{p} \mathbf{1}_{Q}(y) \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^{n}} \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset P}} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset P}} \mathbf{1}_{\{(x,y) \in P \times Q: \ P \subset B(y, 2c_{(n)}|x-y|)\}}(x, y) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} & \times \left[ \frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)} \right]^{p-\varepsilon} \left[ \int_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \right]^p \\ & \sim \sum_{\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n} \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}^\alpha} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^\alpha \\ Q \subset P}} \mathbf{1}_P(x) \mathbf{1}_{Q \cap [B(x, C_{(n)}\ell(P))]^{\complement}}(y) \\ & \times \left[ \frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)} \right]^{p-\varepsilon} \left[ \int_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \right]^p, \end{split}$$

which establishes the validity of (3.20).

Using (3.20) and the assumption that  $\rho$  is decreasing on  $(0, \infty)$  we find that

$$J \lesssim \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n \\ Q \subseteq P}} \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ \ell(P)}} \omega(P) \rho(C_{(n)}\ell(P)) \\ \times \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ Q \subseteq P}} \left[ \frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)} \right]^{p-\varepsilon} |Q| \left[ \oint_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| \, dz \right]^p$$
(3.22)

for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, p)$ . Now fix an  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n$ . Since  $P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}$ , we may assume that  $P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}_{j_0}$  for some  $j_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ . From this, the properties of dyadic cubes, the assumption that  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and both (i) and (iii) of Lemma 3.14, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\\Q \subset P}} \left[ \frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)} \right]^{p-\varepsilon} |Q| \left[ \int_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| dz \right]^p \\ &= \sum_{\substack{j=j_0\\Q \subset P}}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_0)(p-\varepsilon)} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}_j\\Q \subset P}} |Q| \left[ \int_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| dz \right]^p \\ &\leq [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sum_{\substack{j=j_0\\j=j_0}}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_0)(p-\varepsilon)} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}_j\\Q \subset P}} \frac{|Q|}{\omega(N_Q)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathbf{1}_{N_Q}(z) |\nabla f(z)|^p \omega(z) dz \\ &= [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\substack{j=j_0\\j=j_0}}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_0)(p-\varepsilon)} \\ &\times \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}_j\\Q \subset P}} \frac{|Q|}{\omega(N_Q)} \mathbf{1}_{N_Q}(z) |\nabla f(z)|^p \omega(z) dz. \end{split}$$
(3.23)

Moreover, by Lemma 3.14(ii), we have, for any given  $P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}$  and for any  $Q \subset P$ ,

$$\frac{|Q|}{\omega(Q)} \le [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{|P|}{\omega(P)}.$$

Using this and the definition of  $N_Q$  as in (3.15), for any given  $\varepsilon \in (0, p)$ , any  $\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^n$ ,  $P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}$ ,

and  $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we conclude that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=j_0}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_0)(p-\varepsilon)} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset P}} \frac{|Q|}{\omega(Q)} \mathbf{1}_{N_Q}(z) \\ &\leq [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{|P|}{\omega(P)} \sum_{j=j_0}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_0)(p-\varepsilon)} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset P}} \mathbf{1}_{N_Q}(z) \\ &\lesssim [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{|P|}{\omega(P)} \mathbf{1}_{N_Q}(z). \end{split}$$

Combining this estimate with (3.23), implies that

$$\sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \\ Q \subset P}} \left[ \frac{\ell(Q)}{\ell(P)} \right]^{p-\epsilon} |Q| \left[ \int_{N_Q} |\nabla f(z)| dz \right]^p$$
  
$$\lesssim [\omega]^2_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{|P|}{\omega(P)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathbf{1}_{N_P}(z) |\nabla f(z)|^p \omega(z) dz.$$

By this, (3.22), and the definition of  $N_Q$  as in (3.15), we obtain

$$\mathbf{J} \leq \left[\omega\right]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^{n}} \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}} \rho(C_{(n)}\ell(P))|P| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mathbf{1}_{N_{P}}(z) |\nabla f(z)|^{p} \omega(z) dz$$

$$\sim \left[\omega\right]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}} \rho(C_{(n)}\ell(P))|P| \mathbf{1}_{N_{P}}(z) |\nabla f(z)|^{p} \omega(z) dz$$

$$\sim \left[\omega\right]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}\}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}} \rho(C_{(n)}\ell(P))|P| \mathbf{1}_{Q}(z) |\nabla f(z)|^{p} \omega(z) dz.$$
(3.24)

Moreover, using Lemma 3.27(i) and the assumption that  $\rho$  is decreasing on  $(0, \infty)$ , for any  $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we conclude that

$$\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}} \rho(C_{(n)}\ell(Q)) |Q| \mathbf{1}_Q(z) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \rho(C_{(n)}2^{-j})2^{-jn}$$
  
$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{B(\mathbf{0}, C_{(n)}2^{-j+1}) \setminus B(\mathbf{0}, C_{(n)}2^{-j})} \rho(|y|) \, dy$$
  
$$\sim \int_0^{\infty} \rho(r) r^{n-1} \, dr.$$

From this and (3.24) we finally deduce (3.19) and conclude the proof of Lemma 3.29.

Combining Lemmas 3.26 and 3.29, we now derive the following conclusion.

**Lemma 3.30.** Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $\rho \in L^1_{loc}(0, \infty)$  be a nonnegative and decreasing function satisfying (3.11). Assume that  $\omega \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p)}$ , depending only on both n and p, such that (3.12) is valid for any  $f \in C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $f, \omega$ , and  $\rho$  be as stated. Observe that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho(|x - y|) \omega(x) \, dx \, dy \le 2^p (\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{J}) \sim \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{J},$$

where I and J are as in (3.13) and (3.20), respectively. This estimate combined with Lemmas 3.26 and 3.29 implies that (3.12) holds for any  $f \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and finishes the proof of Lemma 3.30.

Now, we are in a position to prove Lemma 3.23.

*Proof of Lemma 3.23.* Following the notation in the statement we set  $C_{(\rho)} := \int_0^\infty \rho(r)r^{n-1} dr$ . It follows from Corollary 3.21 that for any  $f \in W^{1,p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  there exists a sequence of functions  $\{f_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\limsup_{k \to \infty} \|f - f_k\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 0 = \limsup_{k \to \infty} \||\nabla f - \nabla f_k\|\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
(3.25)

Since  $\{f_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , from Lemma 3.30 (with *f* replaced by  $f_k$ ), we deduce that, for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f_k(x) - f_k(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho(|x - y|) \omega(x) \, dy \, dx$$
  
$$\lesssim C_{(\rho)} [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \, \||\nabla f_k\|\|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$$
(3.26)

For any  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , let

$$E_N := \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n : |x - y| \in (N^{-1}, \infty), \\ \omega(x) \in (N^{-1}, N), \ \omega(y) \in (N^{-1}, N) \}.$$

By this, Tonelli's theorem, and (3.26) we obtain, for any fixed  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , that

$$\begin{split} &\iint_{E_{N}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{p}} \rho(|x - y|)\omega(x) \, dy \, dx \\ &\lesssim \iint_{E_{N}} \frac{|f(x) - f_{k}(x)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{p}} \rho(|x - y|)\omega(x) \, dy \, dx \\ &+ \iint_{E_{N}} \frac{|f_{k}(x) - f_{k}(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{p}} \rho(|x - y|)\omega(x) \, dy \, dx \\ &+ \iint_{E_{N}} \frac{|f_{k}(y) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{p}} \rho(|x - y|) \frac{\omega(x)}{\omega(y)} \omega(y) \, dx \, dy \\ &\lesssim C_{(\rho)} N^{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f(x) - f_{k}(x)|^{p} \omega(x) \, dx + C_{(\rho)} [\omega]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \| \| \nabla f_{k} \| \|_{L^{p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \\ &+ C_{(\rho)} N^{p+2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f(y) - f_{k}(y)|^{p} \omega(y) \, dy \\ &\lesssim C_{(\rho)} \left[ N^{p+2} \| |f - f_{k} \|_{L^{p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} + [\omega]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{2} \| \| \nabla f_{k} \| \|_{L^{p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \right]. \end{split}$$

Using this and (3.25), we conclude that, for any fixed  $N \in \mathbb{N}$  and for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\iint_{E_N} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho(|x - y|)\omega(x) \, dy \, dx$$

$$\leq \limsup_{k \to \infty} C_{(\rho)} \left[ N^{p+2} \| f - f_k \|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p + [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \| |\nabla f_k| \|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \right]$$
  
  $\sim C_{(\rho)} [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \| |\nabla f| \|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$ 

Combining the preceding estimate with Levi's lemma implies

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho(|x - y|) \, dy \right] \omega(x) \, dx$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \iint_{E_N} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho(|x - y|) \omega(x) \, dy \, dx$$
  
$$\lesssim C_{(\rho)} [\omega]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \| |\nabla f| \|_{L^p_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

and hence finishes the proof of Lemma 3.23.

### 3.3 **Proof of Theorem 3.36. The main result.**

In this subsection we prove the main result of this article, Theorem 3.36. This is derived from Theorem 3.4 whose proof is based on three lemmas. We begin with the following lemma which gives another sufficient condition for the locally  $\beta$ -doubling property of *X*.

**Lemma 3.31.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on X'. Then X is locally n-doubling.

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.17 and the definition of X'', for any  $B \in \mathbb{B}$  and  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$ , we have

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X} = \|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X''} = \sup_{\|g\|_{X'}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}(x)|g(x)|\,dx.$$

From this, Lemma 3.16 (with X replaced by X'), Lemma 3.14(ii) (with  $\omega$  replaced by  $R_{X'}g$ ), and Lemma 3.18, we deduce that

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X} \leq \sup_{\|g\|_{X'}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}(x) R_{X'}g(x) dx$$
  
$$\leq \alpha^{n} \sup_{\|g\|_{X'}=1} [R_{X'}g]_{A_{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mathbf{1}_{B}(x) R_{X'}g(x) dx$$
  
$$\lesssim \alpha^{n} \|\mathcal{M}\|_{X' \to X'} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X} \sup_{\|g\|_{X'}=1} \|R_{X'}g\|_{X'} \sim \alpha^{n} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X},$$

which implies that *X* is locally *n*-doubling. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.31.

**Remark 3.32.** By Lemma 3.31, we conclude that the assumption that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling is weaker than the assumption that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on X'.

As a consequence of Theorem 2.13 and Lemma 3.31, we have the following conclusion.

**Lemma 3.33.** Let X be a ball Banach function space,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasingradial-ATI. Assume that  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space with the property that the Hardy– Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ . Then (3.2) is valid for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.31 we conclude that  $X^{1/p}$  is locally *n*-doubling. This, together with Proposition 2.11, implies that X is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta := n/p \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 2.13 are satisfied. Applying this theorem we deduce the validity of (3.2) for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This finishes the proof of Lemma 3.33.

Based on Lemma 3.33, in order to prove Theorem 3.4, it is sufficient to show the following

**Lemma 3.34.** Let X be a ball Banach function space satisfying the same assumptions as in Lemma 3.33,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\rho \in L^1_{loc}(0, \infty)$  be a nonnegative and decreasing function satisfying (3.11). Then there exists a positive constant  $C_{(n,p)}$ , depending only on both n and p, such that for any  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we have

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p \\ & \leq C_{(n,p)} \|\mathcal{M}\|_{(X^{1/p})' \to (X^{1/p})'}^2 \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_X^p \int_0^\infty \rho(r) r^{n-1} \, dr. \end{split}$$

*Proof.* Let  $C_{(\rho)} := \int_0^\infty \rho(r) r^{n-1} dr$ . By the definition of  $X^{1/p}$ , Lemma 3.17 (with X replaced by  $X^{1/p}$ ), and the definition of  $(X^{1/p})''$ , for any  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p} \\ &= \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right\|_{X^{1/p}} \\ &= \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right\|_{(X^{1/p})''} \\ &= \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'} = 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{|x - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|x - y|) \, dy \right] |g(x)| \, dx. \end{split}$$

From this, Lemma 3.16 [with *X* replaced by  $(X^{1/p})'$ ], Lemma 3.23 [with  $\omega$  replaced by  $R_{(X^{1/p})'}g$ ], and Lemma 3.18 (with *X* replaced by  $X^{1/p}$ ), we deduce that, for any  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p \\ & \leq \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'} = 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^p}{|x - y|^p} \rho(|x - y|) \, dy \right] R_{(X^{1/p})'} g(x) \, dx \\ & \lesssim C_{(\rho)} \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'} = 1} \left[ R_{(X^{1/p})'} g \right]_{A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla f(x)|^p R_{(X^{1/p})'} g(x) \, dx \\ & \lesssim C_{(\rho)} \|\mathcal{M}\|_{(X^{1/p})' \to (X^{1/p})'}^2 \sup_{\|g\|_{(X^{1/p})'} = 1} \left\| |\nabla f|^p \right\|_{X^{1/p}} \|R_{(X^{1/p})'} g\|_{(X^{1/p})'}^2 \\ & \lesssim C_{(\rho)} \|\mathcal{M}\|_{(X^{1/p})' \to (X^{1/p})'}^2 \||\nabla f|\|_X^p. \end{split}$$

This finishes the proof of Lemma 3.34.

**Remark 3.35.** In the case where  $X = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the translation invariance of the Lebesgue measure and the explicit expression of the norm  $\|\cdot\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  provide straightforward proofs of Lemma 3.34; see, for instance, [13, Proposition 9.3]. Our proof does not rely on these properties.

*Proof of Theorem 3.4.* In view of Corollary 3.19,  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This implies that, for any  $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$ , there exists a  $g \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\| |\nabla g - \nabla f| \|_X < \zeta.$$

Using this and Lemma 3.34 (with f and  $\rho$  replaced, respectively, by f - g and  $\rho_{\epsilon}$ ), we conclude that, for any given  $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$  and for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|(f-g)(\cdot) - (f-g)(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X \lesssim \| |\nabla g - \nabla f| \, \|_X \lesssim \zeta,$$

which, combined with the Minkowski inequality, further implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} - [K(p, n)]^{1/p} \| |\nabla f| \|_{X} \\ &\leq \left\| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &- \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|g(\cdot) - g(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &+ \left\| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|g(\cdot) - g(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} - [K(p, n)]^{1/p} \| |\nabla g| \|_{X} \\ &+ \left\| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|g(\cdot) - g(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &\leq \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|(f - g)(\cdot) - (f - g)(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &+ \left\| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|g(\cdot) - g(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &+ \left\| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|g(\cdot) - g(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} \\ &+ \left[ K(p, n) \right]^{1/p} \| |\nabla g - \nabla f| \|_{X} \\ &\leq \zeta + \left\| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|g(\cdot) - g(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} - [K(p, n)]^{1/p} \| |\nabla g| \|_{X} \right|. \end{aligned}$$
(3.27)

As  $g \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , Lemma 3.33 (with *f* replaced by *g*) implies that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|g(\cdot) - g(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_\epsilon(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = K(p, n) \, \| \, |\nabla g| \, \|_X^p.$$

By this and (3.27), for any given  $\zeta \in (0, \infty)$ , we conclude that

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p - K(p, n) \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_X^p \right| \lesssim \zeta.$$

As  $\zeta > 0$  is arbitrary, we obtain the validity of (3.2) and then complete the proof of Theorem 3.4.

As an application of Theorem 3.4, we now prove the main result of this article (Theorem 3.36), namely, the generalization of the classical BBM formula (1.2) for ball Banach Sobolev spaces.

**Theorem 3.36.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm,  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space, and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ . Then (2.15) is valid for any  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Before proving Theorem 3.36, we show the following key lemma.

**Lemma 3.37.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Assume that  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space and the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r\in(0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on  $X^{1/p}$ . Then (2.18) is valid for any  $f \in X$ .

*Proof.* From both the definition of  $X^{1/p}$  and the assumption that  $X^{1/p}$  is a BBF space, for any  $s \in (0, 1)$ , it follows that

$$(1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p}$$

$$= (1-s) \left\| \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right\|_{X^{1/p}}$$

$$\leq (1-s) \left\| \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right\|_{X^{1/p}}$$

$$+ (1-s) \left\| \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot-y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot-y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right\|_{X^{1/p}}$$

$$= :I_{s}^{(1)} + I_{s}^{(2)}.$$
(3.28)

We first consider  $I_s^{(1)}$ . Using the definition of  $X^{1/p}$  we write

$$I_{s}^{(1)} \leq (1-s)^{\frac{3+sp}{2}} \left\| |f|^{p} \right\|_{X^{1/p}} = (1-s)^{\frac{3+sp}{2}} \|f\|_{X}^{p} \to 0$$
(3.29)

as  $s \to 1^-$ . As for  $I_s^{(2)}$ , from the assumptions that  $X^{1/p}$  is a BBF space and the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on  $X^{1/p}$ , and the definition of  $X^{1/p}$ , it follows that

$$\begin{split} I_s^{(2)} &\lesssim (1-s) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[ 2^{-j} (1-s)^{1/2} \right]^{n+sp} \\ &\times \left\| \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ 2^{j-1} (1-s)^{-1/2} \le |\cdot - y| < 2^j (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} |f(y)|^p \, dy \right\|_{X^{1/p}} \\ &\lesssim (1-s) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[ 2^{-j} (1-s)^{1/2} \right]^{n+sp} \left\| \int_{B(\cdot, 2^j (1-s)^{-1/2})} |f(y)|^p \, dy \right\|_{X^{1/p}} \end{split}$$

$$\sim (1-s) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left[ 2^{-j} (1-s)^{1/2} \right]^{sp} \left\| B_{2^{j} (1-s)^{-1/2}} (|f|^{p}) \right\|_{X^{1/p}}$$
  
$$\lesssim (1-s)^{\frac{2+sp}{2}} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^{-jsp} \left\| |f|^{p} \right\|_{X^{1/p}}$$
  
$$\sim (1-s)^{\frac{2+sp}{2}} ||f||_{X}^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^{-jsp} \to 0$$

as  $s \to 1^-$ . Combining this fact with (3.28) and (3.29) implies that (2.18) holds for any  $f \in X$ , and this finishes the proof of Lemma 3.37.

*Proof of Theorem 3.36.* Let  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  be as in (2.22) for any  $\epsilon \in (0, 1/p)$ . By the proof of Theorem 2.15 and the assumptions of the present theorem, we conclude that all the assumptions of Theorem 3.4 are satisfied. Using this and Theorem 3.4, for any  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we obtain

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot -y| < (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot -y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X}^{p}$$
$$= \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \||\nabla f|\|_{X}^{p}.$$
(3.30)

Moreover, from Lemma 3.11 with the assumption that  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ , it follows that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r\in(0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on  $X^{1/p}$ . This fact and Lemma 3.37 imply that

$$\lim_{s \to 1^-} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ |\cdot -y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot -y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = 0.$$

By this and (3.30) we obtain the validity of (2.15) for any  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and hence complete the proof of Theorem 3.36.

# 4 New characterizations of ball Banach Sobolev spaces

In this section we apply the BBM formula for ball Banach Sobolev spaces (Theorems 3.4 and 3.36) to obtain new characterizations of  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The main such characterizations are the contents of Theorems 4.8 and 4.12 below.

**Theorem 4.1.** Let X be a ball Banach function space,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasingradial-ATI. Assume that  $C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is dense in X', and X' has an absolutely continuous norm and is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, n + 1)$ . If  $f \in X$  satisfies

$$\liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X < \infty, \tag{4.1}$$

then  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\||\nabla f|\|_X \lesssim \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_\epsilon(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p$$

with the implicit positive constant independent of f.

**Remark 4.2.** When  $X = L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , this result can be found in [12, Theorem 2]; the proof there strongly depends on the translation invariance of the  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  norm. But ball Banach function spaces may not be translation invariant, for instance this is the case for weighted Lebesgue spaces and variable Lebesgue spaces (Subsections 5.3 and 5.4, respectively). We overcome this essential obstacle via an elegant use of the Funk–Hecke formula for spherical harmonics (Lemmas 4.3–4.7).

The proof of Theorem 4.1 relies on the five lemmas below.

**Lemma 4.3.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that X has an absolutely continuous norm. Then, for any bounded linear functional L on X, there exists a unique  $g \in X'$  such that  $||L||_{X^*} = ||g||_{X'}$  and, for any  $f \in X$ ,

$$L(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)g(x)\,dx,$$

where  $||L||_{X^*} := \sup\{|L(f)| : f \in X, ||f||_X \le 1\}.$ 

The proof of this lemma can be obtained by a repetition of an argument similar to that used in the proof of [10, Corollary 4.3] and is omitted.

The next tool establishes an equivalent characterization of  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  under certain assumptions.

**Lemma 4.4.** Let X be a ball Banach function space and  $f \in X$ . Assume that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in X', and that X' has an absolutely continuous norm. Then  $|\nabla f| \in X$  if and only if for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$  we have

$$B_j(f) := \sup\left\{ \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) \partial_j \phi(x) \, dx \right| : \ \phi \in C^\infty_{\mathbf{c}}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ \|\phi\|_{X'} \le 1 \right\} < \infty;$$
(4.2)

moreover,

$$\||\nabla f|\|_X \sim \sum_{j=1}^n B_j(f)$$
 (4.3)

with the positive equivalence constants independent of f.

*Proof.* We first prove the necessity. Let  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . For any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , by the definition of  $\partial_j f$  and Lemma 3.18, we have, for any  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfying  $\|\phi\|_{X'} \leq 1$ ,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) \partial_j \phi(x) \, dx \right| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \partial_j f(x) \phi(x) \, dx \right| \\ &\leq \|\partial_j f\|_X \|\phi\|_{X'} \leq \|f\|_{W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty, \end{split}$$

which, combined with the definition of  $B_j(f)$ , implies that (4.2) holds and

$$\sum_{j=1}^n B_j(f) \le n \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_X \, .$$

This finishes the proof of the necessity.

It remains to show the sufficiency. To achieve this, assume that  $B_j(f) < \infty$  for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ . For any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$  let

$$L_{j}(\phi) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} f(x)\partial_{j}\phi(x) \, dx, \quad \forall \phi \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

$$(4.4)$$

By the definition of  $B_j(f)$ , for any  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfying  $\|\phi\|_{X'} \leq 1$ , we obtain

$$|L_j(\phi)| = \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) \partial_j \phi(x) \, dx \right| \le B_j(f) < \infty, \tag{4.5}$$

which implies that  $L_j$  is a bounded linear functional on  $(C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_{X'})$ . From this, the assumption that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in X', [13, Theorem 1.1], and (4.5), we deduce that  $L_j$  can be extended to a unique bounded linear operator on  $(X', \|\cdot\|_{X'})$ , which is still denoted by  $L_j$  and which satisfies

$$\|L_j\|_{(X')^*} \le B_j(f). \tag{4.6}$$

By Lemma 4.3 (with *X* replaced by *X'*), using the assumption that *X'* has an absolutely continuous norm, we conclude that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , there exists a unique  $g_j \in X''$  such that

$$\|g_j\|_{X''} = \|L_j\|_{(X')^*} \tag{4.7}$$

and, for any  $\phi \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,

$$L_j(\phi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g_j(x)\phi(x)\,dx;$$

this fact combined with (4.4) implies that  $\partial_j f = -g_j$ . Moreover, from this and the assumption that  $g_j \in X''$ , it follows that  $\partial_j f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Using this, Lemma 3.18, (4.7), and (4.6), for any  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , we obtain

$$\|\partial_j f\|_X = \|g_j\|_X = \|g_j\|_{X''} = \|L_j\|_{(X')^*} \le B_j(f) < \infty,$$

which, together with the assumption that  $f \in X$ , implies that  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\| |\nabla f| \|_X \le \sum_{j=1}^n B_j(f).$$

This finishes the proof of the sufficiency, and hence of Lemma 4.4.

The following Funk-Hecke formula for spherical harmonics is a part of [6, Theorem 2.22].

**Lemma 4.5.** Let  $e, \eta \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  with  $n \ge 2$ , and f be a measurable functions on (-1, 1) satisfying that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} |f(t)| (1-t^2)^{(n-3)/2} dt < \infty.$$

Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} [\xi \cdot \eta] f(\xi \cdot e) \, d\sigma(\xi) = \lambda(f) [e \cdot \eta],$$

where

$$\lambda(f) := \sigma(\mathbb{S}^{n-2}) \int_{-1}^{1} tf(t)(1-t^2)^{(n-3)/2} dt$$

Borrowing a few ideas from [22, (9)], we prove the following technical lemma.

**Lemma 4.6.** Let  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a radial-ATI. Then, for any  $\phi \in C^2_{c}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)}{|h|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh = \frac{K(1,n)}{2} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)], \tag{4.8}$$

where the convergence is uniform in  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ; here K(1, n) as in (1.3) with p = 1.

*Proof.* Let  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ . Then for any given  $\epsilon > 0$  write

$$K_{\epsilon} := \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)}{|h|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh = K_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta) + K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta), \tag{4.9}$$

where

$$K_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta) := \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0, \ |h| \ge \delta\}} \frac{\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)}{|h|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh$$

and

$$K^{(2)}_{\epsilon}(\delta) := \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0, \ |h| < \delta\}} \frac{\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)}{|h|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh.$$

We first consider  $K_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta)$ . Since  $\phi \in C_{c}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , applying the mean value theorem and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality for any  $x, h \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ , we obtain

$$|\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)| \le || |\nabla \phi| ||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |h|.$$

Combining this estimate with (2.2), for any given  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ , implies that

$$|K_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta)| \leq \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: h \cdot e \geq 0, |h| \geq \delta\}} \frac{|\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)|}{|h|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) dh$$
  
$$\leq || |\nabla \phi| ||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: h \cdot e \geq 0, |h| \geq \delta\}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) dh$$
  
$$\lesssim \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \to 0$$
(4.10)

as  $\epsilon \to 0^+$ .

Next, we examine  $K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta)$ . Consider first the case n = 1 in which we may take e = 1. Observe that K(1, 1) = 2. From this and (2.1), for any  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\epsilon > 0$ , it follows that

$$\begin{split} K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) &= \int_{0}^{\delta} \frac{\phi(x+r) - \phi(x)}{r} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr \\ &= \int_{0}^{\delta} \left[ \frac{\phi(x+r) - \phi(x)}{r} - \phi'(x) \right] \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr + \phi'(x) \int_{0}^{\delta} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr \\ &= \int_{0}^{\delta} \left[ \frac{\phi(x+r) - \phi(x)}{r} - \phi'(x) \right] \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr \\ &+ \phi'(x) \left[ 1 - \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr \right] \end{split}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\delta} \left[ \frac{\phi(x+r) - \phi(x)}{r} - \phi'(x) \right] \rho_{\epsilon}(r) dr$$
$$+ \phi'(x) \left[ \frac{K(1,1)}{2} - \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) dr \right].$$
(4.11)

Since  $\phi \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R})$ , applying Taylor's remainder theorem and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, we deduce that there exists a positive constant  $C_{(\phi)}$  such that for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $r \in (0, \delta]$ ,

$$\left|\frac{\phi(x+r)-\phi(x)}{r}-\phi'(x)\right|\leq C_{(\phi)}r\leq C_{(\phi)}\delta.$$

By this, (4.11), (2.1), and (2.2), for any given  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ , we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left| K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) - \frac{K(1,1)}{2} \phi'(x) \right| \\ &\leq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{0}^{\delta} \left| \frac{\phi(x+r) - \phi(x)}{r} - \phi'(x) \right| \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr \\ &+ |\phi'(x)| \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr \\ &\leq \delta \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{0}^{\delta} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr + \|\phi'\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})} \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) \, dr \\ &\leq \delta. \end{split}$$
(4.12)

Now consider the case  $n \ge 2$ . Observe that, for any  $\delta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\epsilon > 0$ , one has

$$\begin{split} K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) &= \int_{0}^{\delta} \left[ \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \ \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(x+r\xi) - \phi(x)}{r} \, d\sigma(\xi) \right] \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \\ &= \int_{0}^{\delta} \left\{ \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \ \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \left[ \frac{\phi(x+r\xi) - \phi(x)}{r} - \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \right] \, d\sigma(\xi) \right\} \\ &\times \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \\ &+ \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \ \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \, d\sigma(\xi) \int_{0}^{\delta} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \\ &= \int_{0}^{\delta} \left\{ \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \ \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \left[ \frac{\phi(x+r\xi) - \phi(x)}{r} - \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \right] \, d\sigma(\xi) \right\} \\ &\times \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \\ &+ \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \ \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \, d\sigma(\xi) \left[ 1 - \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} \, dr \right], \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) - \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \ \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \, d\sigma(\xi) \right| \\ & \leq \int_{0}^{\delta} \left[ \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \ \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \left| \frac{\phi(x + r\xi) - \phi(x)}{r} - \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \right| \, d\sigma(\xi) \right] \end{aligned}$$

$$\times \rho_{\epsilon}(r)r^{n-1} dr + \left| \int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) d\sigma(\xi) \right| \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r)r^{n-1} dr.$$
(4.13)

Since  $\phi \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , applying Taylor's remainder theorem and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, it follows that there exists a positive constant  $C_{(\phi,n)}$  such that, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $r \in (0, \delta]$ , and  $\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ ,

4

$$\left|\frac{\phi(x+r\xi)-\phi(x)}{r}-\xi\cdot\nabla\phi(x)\right| \le C_{(\phi,n)}r \le C_{(\phi,n)}\delta.$$
(4.14)

Moreover, using the Funk–Hecke formula for spherical harmonics [with f and  $\eta$  in Lemma 4.5 replaced, respectively, by  $\mathbf{1}_{[0,1]}$  and  $\nabla \phi(x)/|\nabla \phi(x)|$ ], and [16, (1.6)], we obtain

$$\int_{\{\xi \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}: \xi \cdot e \ge 0\}} \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \, d\sigma(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \xi \cdot \nabla \phi(x) \mathbf{1}_{[0,1]}(\xi \cdot e) \, d\sigma(\xi)$$
$$= \frac{\sigma(\mathbb{S}^{n-2})}{n-1} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)]$$
$$= \frac{K(1,n)}{2} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)].$$

From this, (4.13), (4.14), (2.1), and (2.2), for any given  $n \ge 2$  and  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ , it follows that

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) - \frac{K(1,n)}{2} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)] \right| \\ &\lesssim \delta \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_0^{\delta} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \\ &+ \frac{K(1,n)}{2} |e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)| \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \\ &\lesssim \delta + \frac{K(1,n)}{2} \| |\nabla \phi| \|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r) r^{n-1} dr \sim \delta. \end{split}$$

This estimate together with (4.12) implies that for any given  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and for any  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ , we have

$$\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) - \frac{K(1,n)}{2} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)] \right| \lesssim \delta.$$

By this, (4.9), and (4.10), for any given  $\delta \in (0, 1)$ , we finally conclude that

$$\begin{split} &\limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(x+h) - \phi(x)}{|h|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|h|) \, dh - \frac{K(1,n)}{2} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)] \right| \\ &\leq \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} |K_{\epsilon}^{(1)}(\delta)| + \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) - \frac{K(1,n)}{2} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)] \right| \\ &= \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| K_{\epsilon}^{(2)}(\delta) - \frac{K(1,n)}{2} [e \cdot \nabla \phi(x)] \right| \lesssim \delta. \end{split}$$

Let  $\delta \to 0^+$ . Then we conclude that (4.8) holds, and this finishes the proof of Lemma 4.6.

Next we provide a modification of [22, Lemma 1].

**Lemma 4.7.** Let  $\rho \in L^1_{loc}(0,\infty)$  be a nonnegative function satisfying (3.11). Let  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $\phi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho(|y - x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx < \infty. \tag{4.15}$$

*Then, for any*  $e \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$  *we have* 

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right|$$
  
$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x-y|} \rho(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |\phi(x)| \, dx.$$

*Proof.* For any given  $\delta \in (0, \infty)$  define

$$\rho_{\delta}(r) := \begin{cases} 0, & r \in (0, \delta), \\ \rho(r), & r \in [\delta, \infty) \end{cases}$$

Then for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we certainly have

$$\frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y - x|) \mathbf{1}_{\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}: (y - x) \cdot e \ge 0\}}(x, y) |f(x)| \\
\leq \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho(|y - x|) |f(x)|.$$
(4.16)

In view of (4.15) this implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx \\
\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y-x|} \rho(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx < \infty.$$
(4.17)

As  $\phi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , there exists a ball  $B(\mathbf{0}, M)$  with  $M \in (0, \infty)$  such that  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, M)$ . Using this, the assumption that  $f \in L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and (3.11), we obtain, for any  $\delta \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{|\phi(x)|}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\rho_{\delta}(|h|)}{|h|} \, dh \right] |\phi(x)| |f(x)| \, dx$$

$$\leq \frac{||\phi||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}{\delta} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} |f(x)| \, dx \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \rho(r) r^{n-1} \, dr < \infty.$$
(4.18)

This, combined with (4.17), further implies that, for any  $\delta \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{|\phi(y)|}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: (y-x) \cdot e \geq 0\}} \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y - x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx \\ + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: (y-x) \cdot e \geq 0\}} \frac{|\phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y - x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx < \infty.$$
(4.19)

Let  $\delta > 0$ . We claim that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right|$$
  
$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x-y|} \rho(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |\phi(x)| \, dx.$$
(4.20)

Indeed, by (4.17), (4.18), (4.19), and Fubini's theorem, we conclude that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{f(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dx \right] \phi(y) \, dy \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{f(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] \phi(x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{f(y-h)}{|h|} \rho_{\delta}(|h|) \, dh \right] \phi(y) \, dy \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{f(x)}{|h|} \rho_{\delta}(|h|) \, dh \right] \phi(x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{f(x-h) - f(x)}{|h|} \rho_{\delta}(|h|) \, dh \right] \phi(x) \, dx, \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$\begin{split} & \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right| \\ & \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{h \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ h \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{|f(x-h) - f(x)|}{|h|} \rho_{\delta}(|h|) \, dh \right] |\phi(x)| \, dx \\ & \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x-y|} \rho(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |\phi(x)| \, dx. \end{split}$$

Thus, the claim (4.20) is valid. From this, (4.15), (4.16), and the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, it follows that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right|$$

$$= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right|$$
  
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : (y-x) \cdot e \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\delta}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right|$$
  
$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x-y|} \rho(|y-x|) \, dy \right] |\phi(x)| \, dx.$$

This finishes the proof of Lemma 4.7.

Proof of Theorem 4.1. By Lemma 4.4, it suffices to show that

$$B_j(f) < \infty, \tag{4.21}$$

for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , where  $B_j(f)$  is as in (4.2). So let  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfy  $||\phi||_{X'} \leq 1$ . Using this and Lemma 4.6 [with *e* replaced by  $e_j$  (the *j*-th unit vector in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ )], we find that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$  and  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\partial_j \phi(x) = e_j \cdot \nabla \phi(x)$$

$$= \frac{2}{K(1,n)} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: (y-x) \cdot e_j \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_\epsilon(|y-x|) \, dy, \qquad (4.22)$$

where the convergence is uniform in x on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and K(1, n) as in (1.3) with p = 1. Since  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it follows that there is a ball  $B(\mathbf{0}, M)$  with M > 0 such that supp  $(\phi) \subset B(\mathbf{0}, M)$ . By this,  $f \in X$  [which implies that  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ], and (4.22), we conclude that, for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ ,

$$\frac{K(1,n)}{2} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)\partial_j \phi(x) \, dx \right| 
= \frac{K(1,n)}{2} \left| \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} f(x)\partial_j \phi(x) \, dx \right| 
= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e_j \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right| 
= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n: \ (y-x) \cdot e_j \ge 0\}} \frac{\phi(y) - \phi(x)}{|y-x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|y-x|) \, dy \right] f(x) \, dx \right|.$$
(4.23)

Then we claim that, for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|y - x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx \leq ||f||_X < \infty.$$

$$(4.24)$$

Indeed, since  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , from the mean value theorem and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, it follows that, for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we have

$$|\phi(x) - \phi(y)| \le \||\nabla \phi|\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |x - y|.$$
(4.25)

Observe that when  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  satisfies  $|x| \ge 2M$ , and  $y \in B(0, M)$ , then we must have  $|y - x| \ge 2^{-1}|x|$ . Using this, (4.25), and Lemma 3.18, we conclude that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|y - x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx$$

$$= \int_{B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\phi(y) - \phi(x)|}{|y - x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|y - x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx \\ + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},M)} \dots + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},M)} \dots \\ \lesssim || |\nabla \phi| \, ||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|y - x|) \, dy \right] |f(x)| \, dx \\ + ||\phi||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |B(\mathbf{0},M)| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \frac{|f(x)|}{|x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{-1}|x|) \, dx \\ \sim \int_{B(\mathbf{0},2M)} |f(x)| \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \frac{|f(x)|}{|x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{-1}|x|) \, dx \\ \lesssim ||f||_{X} ||\mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},2M)}||_{X'} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \frac{|f(x)|}{|x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{-1}|x|) \, dx \\ \lesssim ||f||_{X} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \frac{|f(x)|}{|x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{-1}|x|) \, dx.$$
(4.26)

Moreover, from the assumption that  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  is decreasing for any  $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$ , the assumption that X' is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta \in (0, n + 1)$ , and (2.1), it follows that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}\setminus B(\mathbf{0},2M)} \frac{|f(x)|}{|x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{-1}|x|) \, dx \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j+1}M)\setminus B(\mathbf{0},2^{j}M)} \frac{|f(x)|}{|x|} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{-1}|x|) \, dx \\ &\lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-1}M)}{2^{j}M} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j+1}M)} |f(x)| \, dx \\ &\lesssim ||f||_{X} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{\rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-1}M)}{2^{j}M} ||\mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j+1}M)}||_{X'} \\ &\lesssim ||f||_{X} ||\mathbf{1}_{B(\mathbf{0},1)}||_{X'} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-1}M)(2^{j}M)^{\beta-1} \\ &\lesssim ||f||_{X} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-1}M)(2^{j}M)^{n} \\ &\lesssim ||f||_{X} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{B(\mathbf{0},2^{j+1}M)\setminus B(\mathbf{0},2^{j}M)} \rho_{\epsilon}(2^{j-1}|x|) \, dx \\ &\lesssim ||f||_{X} \int_{M}^{\infty} \rho_{\epsilon}(r)r^{n-1} \, dr \lesssim ||f||_{X} < \infty, \end{split}$$

which, combined with (4.26), implies that the claim (4.24) holds. By (4.23), (4.24), and Lemma 4.7 (with  $\rho$  replaced by  $\rho_{\epsilon}$ ), for any  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , we find that

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x)\partial_j \phi(x)\,dx\right|$$

$$\lesssim \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{|x - y|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|x - y|) \, dy \right] |\phi(x)| \, dx.$$

From this, Lemma 3.18, Hölder's inequality, (2.1), and (4.1), for any  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $\|\phi\|_{X'} \leq 1$  we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} f(x) \partial_{j} \phi(x) \, dx \right\| \\ &\lesssim \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|}{|\cdot - y|} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right\|_{X} \|\phi\|_{X'} \\ &\lesssim \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{1/p'} \right\|_{X} \\ &\lesssim \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{p}} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{X} < \infty. \end{split}$$

This fact, together with (4.3), yields the validity of (4.21) and

$$\||\nabla f|\|_X \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^n B_j(f) \lesssim \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_\epsilon(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p.$$

This finishes the proof of Theorem 4.1.

As a direct consequence of Theorems 3.4 and 4.1, Corollary 3.19, and Lemma 3.31, we obtain the following new characterization of  $W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Indeed, both Corollary 3.19 and Lemma 3.31 are used to show that the BBF space X under consideration satisfies all the hypotheses of both Theorems 3.4 and 4.1.

**Theorem 4.8.** Let X be a ball Banach function space,  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasingradial-ATI. Assume that both X and X' have absolutely continuous norms,  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space, and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ . Then  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in X$  and

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X < \infty; \tag{4.27}$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = K(p, n) \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_X^p.$$

To show Theorem 4.8, we first establish the following two lemmas.

**Lemma 4.9.** Let X be a ball Banach function space. Assume that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X. Then  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X'.

*Proof.* Let r > 0 and  $f \in X$ . By Definition 3.2 and Fubini's theorem, we find that

$$\begin{split} \|B_{r}(f)\|_{X'} &= \sup_{\|g\|_{X}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} B_{r}(f)(x)g(x) \, dx \\ &\leq \sup_{\|g\|_{X}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{1}{|B(x,r)|} \left[ \int_{B(x,r)} |f(y)| \, dy \right] |g(x)| \, dx \\ &= \sup_{\|g\|_{X}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{1}{|B(y,r)|} \left[ \int_{B(y,r)} |g(x)| \, dx \right] |f(y)| \, dy \\ &= \sup_{\|g\|_{X}=1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f(y)| B_{r}(g)(y) \, dy. \end{split}$$

From this, Lemma 3.18, and the assumption that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on *X*, it follows that

$$||B_r(f)||_{X'} \leq \sup_{\|g\|_X=1} ||B_r(g)||_X ||f||_{X'} \lesssim \sup_{\|g\|_X=1} ||g||_X ||f||_{X'} \sim ||f||_{X'}.$$

This finishes the proof of Lemma 4.9.

The following provides the third sufficient condition for the locally  $\beta$ -doubling property of X.

**Lemma 4.10.** Let X be a ball quasi-Banach function space. Assume that the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X. Then X is locally n-doubling.

*Proof.* Observe that for any  $B := B(0, r) \in \mathbb{B}$  with  $r \in (0, \infty)$ , and for any  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$  and  $x \in \alpha B$  we have

$$B_{2\alpha r}(\mathbf{1}_B)(x) = \int_{B(x,2\alpha r)}^{r} \mathbf{1}_B(y) \, dy = \frac{|B \cap B(x,2\alpha r)|}{|B(x,2\alpha r)|} = \frac{1}{(2\alpha)^n}.$$

From this and the assumptions that *X* is a BQBF space and that  $\{B_r\}_{r \in (0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on *X*, it follows that, for any  $B \in \mathbb{B}$  and  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$ ,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{X} \leq 2^{n} \alpha^{n} \|B_{2\alpha r}(\mathbf{1}_{B})\|_{X} \leq \alpha^{n} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{X}.$$

This implies that X is locally *n*-doubling, and hence finishes the proof of Lemma 4.10.

*Proof of Theorem 4.8.* Let  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . By Theorem 3.4, we obtain

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_\epsilon(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = K(p, n) \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_X^p < \infty,$$

1 ... n

which completes the proof of the necessity.

Next, we show the sufficiency. To this end, assume that (4.27) holds. Using Corollary 3.19, Lemma 3.11, and the assumptions that  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space and that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ , we find that  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is dense in X' and the centered ball average operators  $\{B_r\}_{r\in(0,\infty)}$  are uniformly bounded on X. This, combined with Lemmas 4.9 and 4.10, implies that X' is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta = n \in (0, n + 1)$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 4.1 are satisfied. Using Theorem 4.1, we conclude that  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This finishes the proof of the sufficiency, and hence of Theorem 4.8.

**Remark 4.11.** Let  $q \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $p \in [1, q]$ ,  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\{\rho_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon \in (0,\infty)}$  be a decreasing-radial-ATI. Then, by Theorem 4.8, we find that  $f \in W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and (4.1) holds with  $X = L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; moreover, if (4.1) holds for some  $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then we have

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot - y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = K(p, n) \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \, dy$$

If  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , Theorem 4.8 is just [12, Theorem 2] when p = q but is new when p < q.

Theorems 3.36 and 4.1 yield the following conclusion in a way similar to Theorem 4.8.

**Theorem 4.12.** Let X be a ball Banach function space, and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Assume that both X and X' have absolutely continuous norms,  $X^{1/p}$  is a ball Banach function space, and the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $(X^{1/p})'$ . Then  $f \in W^{1,X}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in X$  and

$$\lim_{s \to 1^-} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X < \infty;$$

moreover, if this holds for a function  $f \in X$ , then we have

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_X^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_X^p.$$

**Remark 4.13.** Let  $q \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $p \in [1, q]$ , and  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, by Theorem 4.12, we conclude that  $f \in W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\lim_{s\to 1^-} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty;$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$$

If  $X := L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , Theorem 4.12 is just [12, (44)] when p = q but is new when p < q.

## **5** Applications to specific spaces

In this section, we apply Theorems 2.13, 2.15, 2.20, 2.22, 3.4, 3.36, 4.8, and 4.12 to seven concrete examples of ball Banach function spaces, namely, Morrey spaces (Subsection 5.1), mixed-norm Lebesgue spaces (Subsection 5.2), weighted Lebesgue spaces (Subsection 5.3), variable Lebesgue spaces (Subsection 5.4), Orlicz spaces (Subsection 5.5), Orlicz-slice spaces (Subsection 5.6), and Lorentz spaces (Subsection 5.7).

#### 5.1 Morrey spaces

For any given  $0 < r \le \alpha < \infty$ , the *Morrey space*  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined as the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for which the quasi-norm

$$||f||_{M^{\alpha}_{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} := \sup_{B \in \mathbb{B}} |B|^{1/\alpha - 1/r} ||f||_{L^{r}(B)}$$

is finite. These spaces were introduced in 1938 by Morrey [78] in order to study the regularity of solutions to certain equations. They find important applications in the theory of elliptic partial differential equations, potential theory, and harmonic analysis (see, for instance, [3, 27, 61, 91, 92, 97]). As indicated in [93, p. 87], the Morrey space  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for any given  $r \in [1, \infty)$  is a ball Banach function space, but not a Banach function space in the terminology of Bennett and Sharpley [10].

The following theorem is a corollary of Theorem 2.15.

**Theorem 5.1.** Let  $1 \le r \le \alpha < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy  $n(1/\alpha - 1/p) < 1$ . Let K(p, n) be as in (1.3). Then, for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \,. \tag{5.1}$$

*Proof.* From the conclusion in [93, p. 87], it follows that the Morrey space  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space. Using this fact and Theorem 2.15, we find that in order to prove the required conclusion, it would suffice to show that  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally  $n/\alpha$ -doubling with  $n/\alpha \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Indeed, from the definition of  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , for any  $B_0 := B(\mathbf{0}, R) \in \mathbb{B}$ , we deduce that

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{B_{0}}\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \max\left\{\sup_{\substack{B\in\mathbb{B}\\r_{B}\leq R}}|B|^{\frac{1}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{r}}\|\mathbf{1}_{B_{0}}\|_{L^{r}(B)}, \sup_{\substack{B\in\mathbb{B}\\r_{B}>R}}|B|^{\frac{1}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{r}}\|\mathbf{1}_{B_{0}}\|_{L^{r}(B)}\right\}$$
$$= \max\left\{\sup_{\substack{B\in\mathbb{B}\\r_{B}\leq R}}|B|^{\frac{1}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{r}}|B_{0}\cap B|^{\frac{1}{r}}, \sup_{\substack{B\in\mathbb{B}\\r_{B}>R}}|B|^{\frac{1}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{r}}|B_{0}\cap B|^{\frac{1}{r}}\right\}$$
$$= |B_{0}|^{1/\alpha}.$$

This implies that, for any  $\lambda \in [1, \infty)$ ,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\lambda B_0}\|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)} = |\lambda B_0|^{1/\alpha} = \lambda^{n/\alpha} |B_0|^{1/\alpha} = \lambda^{n/\alpha} \|\mathbf{1}_{B_0}\|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

Thus,  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally  $n/\alpha$ -doubling. Observe that the assumption that  $n(1/\alpha - 1/p) < 1$  gives  $n/\alpha \in (0, 1 + n/p)$  and this completes the proof of Theorem 5.1.

By the proof of Theorem 5.1, we conclude that the assumptions of Theorem 2.13 are satisfied for  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Using Theorem 2.13, we obtain the following corollary; we omit the details here.

**Corollary 5.2.** Let  $1 \le r \le \alpha < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy  $n(1/\alpha - 1/p) < 1$ . Then Theorem 2.13 remains valid when  $X = M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Proposition 5.3.** Let  $1 < r < \alpha < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, r)$ . Then  $f \in W^{1, M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\liminf_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p < \infty;$$
(5.2)

moreover, there exists positive constants  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  such that

$$C_{1} \left\| \left| \nabla f \right| \right\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \leq \liminf_{s \to 1^{-}} \left( 1 - s \right) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| f(\cdot) - f(y) \right|^{p}}{\left| \cdot - y \right|^{n + sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p}$$
$$\leq \limsup_{s \to 1^{-}} \left( 1 - s \right) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| f(\cdot) - f(y) \right|^{p}}{\left| \cdot - y \right|^{n + sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p}$$
$$\leq C_{2} \left\| \left| \nabla f \right| \right\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p}.$$

*Proof.* We first prove that  $\nabla f$  exists and

$$\| |\nabla f| \|_{M^{\alpha}_{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \lesssim \liminf_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p}.$$
(5.3)

Indeed, when  $1 < r < \alpha < \infty$  and  $\theta \in (0, r/\alpha)$ , according to [91, Proposition 285], we have the following norm equivalence: for any measurable function f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$||f||_{M^{\alpha}_{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sim \sup_{Q \subset \mathbb{R}^{n}} |Q|^{1/\alpha - 1/r} ||f||_{L^{r}_{[\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_{Q})]^{1/(1-\theta)}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})},$$
(5.4)

where  $\mathcal{M}$  denotes the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator, the supremum is taken over all cubes  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\|f\|_{L^{r}_{[\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{Q}})]^{1/(1-\theta)}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} := \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f(x)|^{r} \left[ \mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{Q}})(x) \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}} dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{r}},$$

and the positive equivalence constants are independent of f. From (5.4) and (5.2), it follows that

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) |Q|^{p/\alpha - p/r} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^r_{[\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_Q)]^{1/(1-\theta)}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \\ \lesssim \liminf_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p < \infty.$$
(5.5)

On the other hand, by [91, Theorem 281], we know that  $[\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_Q)]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}} \in A_1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for any cube  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ . From this, (5.5), and Theorem 4.12 with  $X := L^r_{[\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_Q)]^{1/(1-\theta)}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see also Theorem 5.10 below with  $\omega := [\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_Q)]^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$ ), we infer that  $\nabla f$  exists and, for any cube  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\frac{K(p,n)}{p}|Q|^{p/\alpha-p/r} || |\nabla f| ||_{L^r_{[\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_Q)]^{1/(1-\theta)}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

$$= \lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) |Q|^{p/\alpha - p/r} \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{r}_{[\mathcal{M}(\mathbf{1}_{Q})]^{1/(1-\theta)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}$$
  
$$\lesssim \liminf_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p},$$

which, combined with (5.4) again, further implies that (5.3) holds true.

On the other hand, by the conclusion in [93, p. 87], we find that the Morrey space  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space. From [94, Theorem 4.1], it follows that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal function  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $\{[M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p}\}'$ . By this, we conclude that all the assumptions of Lemma 3.34 are satisfied for  $X := M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  [with  $\rho$  in Lemma 3.34 replaced by  $\rho_{\epsilon}$  in (2.22) for any  $\epsilon \in (0, 1/p)$ ], which implies that

$$(1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\cdot-y| < (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot-y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$
$$= \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot-y|^p} \rho_{\epsilon}(|\cdot-y|) \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$
$$\lesssim \| |\nabla f| \|_{M^{\alpha}_r(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$$
(5.6)

Moreover, using Lemma 3.37 and the fact the Hardy–Littlewood maximal function  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $\{[M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p}\}'$  (see, for instance, [94, Theorem 4.1]), we find that

$$\limsup_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\cdot -y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot -y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M^{\alpha}_{r}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = 0.$$

This, together with (5.6), further implies that

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \\ & \leq \limsup_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot - y| < (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \\ & + \limsup_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}: |\cdot - y| \ge (1-s)^{-1/2}\}} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^{p}}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \\ & \leq \| |\nabla f| \|_{M_{r}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p}. \end{split}$$

This finishes the proof of Proposition 5.3.

- **Remark 5.4.** (i) By [94, Example 5.1], we conclude that the Morrey space  $M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  has no absolutely continuous norm if  $1 < r < \alpha < \infty$ . Thus, it is still unknown whether or not (5.1) is valid for any  $f \in W^{1,M_r^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .
  - (ii) We point out that the upper estimate (5.3) of Proposition 5.3 is attributed to the referee.

#### 5.2 Mixed-norm Lebesgue spaces

For a given vector  $\vec{r} := (r_1, ..., r_n) \in (0, \infty]^n$ , the *mixed-norm Lebesgue space*  $L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined to be the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for which the quasi-norm

$$||f||_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}} \cdots \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}} |f(x_1,\ldots,x_n)|^{r_1} dx_1 \right]^{\frac{r_2}{r_1}} \cdots dx_n \right\}^{\frac{r_n}{r_n}},$$

is finite; the usual modifications are made when  $r_i = \infty$  for some  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ . In the sequel let

$$r_{-} := \min\{r_{1}, \dots, r_{n}\}.$$
(5.7)

The study of mixed-norm Lebesgue spaces can be traced back to Hörmander [53] and Benedek and Panzone [9]. Important developments of mixed-norm function spaces can be found in [28, 46, 56, 57, 58, 71, 83, 84]. When  $\vec{r} \in (0, \infty)^n$  the set  $L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a ball quasi-Banach function space, but it may not be a quasi-Banach function space (see, for instance, [107, Remark 7.20]).

The following theorem is a corollary of Theorem 2.15.

**Theorem 5.5.** Let  $\vec{r} := (r_1, ..., r_n) \in [1, \infty)^n$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy  $1/r_1 + \cdots + 1/r_n < 1 + n/p$ . Let K(p, n) be as in (1.3). Then, for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p \, .$$

*Proof.* From [56, Remark 2.8(iii)], it follows that the mixed-norm Lebesgue space  $L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space. Using this and Theorem 2.15 we conclude that in order to prove the required conclusion it suffices to show that  $L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with some  $\beta \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Indeed, by [83, Proposition 2.1], we conclude that, for any  $B := B(\mathbf{0}, r) \in \mathbb{B}$  with  $r \in (0, \infty)$ , and any  $\alpha \in [1, \infty)$  we have

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\alpha B}\|_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \alpha^{\frac{1}{r_{1}} + \dots + \frac{1}{r_{n}}} \|\mathbf{1}_{B}\|_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

Combining this estimate with the assumption that  $1/r_1 + \cdots + 1/r_n < 1 + n/p$ , implies that  $L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally  $\beta$ -doubling with  $\beta = 1/r_1 + \cdots + 1/r_n \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Theorem 5.5 is now proved.

The following result is a consequence of Theorem 4.12.

**Theorem 5.6.** Let  $\vec{r} := (r_1, \ldots, r_n) \in (1, \infty)^n$  and let  $p \in [1, r_-)$  with  $r_-$  defined in (5.7). Then  $f \in W^{1,L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and in this case we have

$$\lim_{s \to 1^-} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p < \infty;$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| \, |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

with K(p, n) as in (1.3).

*Proof.* By the definition of  $L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we obtain that

$$[L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p} = L^{\vec{r}/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

and thus  $[L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p}$  is a BBF space (see, for instance, [56, Remark 2.8(iii)]). Then, from this and [9, Theorems 1 and 2], it follows that

$$\left[L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]' = L^{\vec{r}'}(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ and } \left(\left[L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]^{1/p}\right)' = L^{(\vec{r}/p)'}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

where  $\vec{r}' := (r'_1, \ldots, r'_n)$  with  $1/r_i + /r'_i = 1$ , and  $(\vec{r}/p)' := (r^*_1, \ldots, r^*_n)$  with  $p/r_i + 1/r^*_i = 1$ for any  $i \in \{1, \cdots, n\}$ . Moreover, in view of [45, Lemma 4.1] and the assumption that  $\vec{r} := (r_1, \ldots, r_n) \in (1, \infty)^n$ , we conclude that  $L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $[L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)]'$  both have absolutely continuous norms. Furthermore, by [56, Lemma 3.5] and the assumptions that  $\vec{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_n) \in (1, \infty)^n$  and  $p \in [1, r_-)$ , we find that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $([L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p})'$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 are satisfied for  $X := L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $\vec{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_n) \in (1, \infty)^n$  and  $p \in [1, r_-)$ . From this and Theorem 4.12 with  $X := L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we deduce the claimed conclusions. This finishes the proof of Theorem 5.6.

From the proof of Theorem 5.6, we deduce that all the assumptions of Theorems 2.13, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 with  $X := L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are satisfied. Thus we obtain the following results and we omit the details.

**Corollary 5.7.** Let  $\vec{r} := (r_1, ..., r_n) \in (1, \infty)^n$ , and  $p \in [1, r_-)$ . Then Theorems 2.13, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 are valid for  $X = L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Remark 5.8.** We point out that the Sobolev-type space  $W^{1,L^{\vec{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  associated with mixed-norm Lebesgue space has been previously studied in [62, 63].

#### 5.3 Weighted Lebesgue spaces

In this section, we apply Theorems 2.20, 2.22, 3.4, 3.36, 4.8, and 4.12 to weighted Lebesgue spaces (see Definition 3.13). It is worth pointing out that a weighted Lebesgue space with an  $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -weight may not be a Banach function space; see [93, Section 7.1].

The following theorem is a consequence of Theorem 2.22.

**Theorem 5.9.** Let  $r, p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy that n(1/r - 1/p) < 1, and  $\omega \in \bigcup_{q \in [1, r(1/n+1/p))} A_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Let K(p, n) be as in (1.3). Then, for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$$

*Proof.* It is known that  $L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is a BBF space (see, e.g., [93, p. 86]). Since  $q \in (pn/(p+n), r]$ , it follows that n(1/q - 1/p) < 1 and  $q \le r$ . Moreover, by the definition of  $L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , we have

$$[L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/q} = L^{r/q}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Using this, the assumption that  $\omega \in A_{r/q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and [47, Theorem 7.1.9 (a)] we conclude that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is weakly bounded on  $[L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/q}$ . Thus all the assumptions of Theorem 2.22 with  $X := L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are satisfied. The conclusion of Theorem 2.22 yields the claimed assertion and then completes the proof of Theorem 5.9.

The following result is a corollary of Theorem 4.12.

**Theorem 5.10.** Let  $r \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $p \in [1, r]$ , and  $\omega \in A_{r/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then  $f \in W^{1, L_{\omega}^r(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in L_{\omega}^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p < \infty;$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

with K(p, n) as in (1.3).

*Proof.* By [96, Lemma 4.2] and [89, Theorem 1.34], we conclude that  $L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $[L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)]' = L^{r'}_{\omega^{-r'}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  both have absolutely continuous norms. From the definition of  $L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , it follows that

$$[L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p} = L^{r/p}_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

and  $[L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p}$  is a BBF space.

Then we consider two cases based on the size of p. If  $p \in [1, r)$ , from the assumption that  $\omega \in A_{r/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and [47, Proposition 7.1.5(4)], it follows that

$$\omega^{1 - (r/p)'} \in A_{(r/p)'}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$
(5.8)

Moreover, using [96, Lemma 4.2], we conclude that

$$\left(\left[L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right]^{1/p}\right)' = L_{\omega^{1-(r/p)'}}^{(r/p)'}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

By this, (5.8), and [5, Theorem 3.1(b)], we find that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $([L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})]^{1/p})'$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 are satisfied for  $X := L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  with  $p \in [1, r)$  and  $\omega \in A_{r/p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ .

If p = r we apply the conclusion in [59, p. 9] and the assumption that  $\omega \in A_{r/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to obtain

$$\left(\left[L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right]^{1/p}\right)' = L_{\omega^{-1}}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

This combined with [5, Theorem 3.1(b)] and [59, p. 9] yields that  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $([L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})]^{1/p})'$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 are also satisfied for  $X := L_{\omega}^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  when p = r and  $\omega \in A_{r/p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ . The conclusion of this theorem yields the claimed assertion and then finishes the proof of Theorem 5.10.

From the proof of Theorem 5.10, it follows that all the assumptions of Theorems 2.20, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 with  $X := L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are satisfied. As a consequence of these theorems with  $X := L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we obtain the following results; we omit the details here.

**Corollary 5.11.** Let  $r \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $p \in [1, r]$ , and  $\omega \in A_{r/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then Theorems 2.20, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 are valid for  $X = L^r_{\omega}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

#### 5.4 Variable Lebesgue spaces

Let  $r: \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty)$  be a nonnegative measurable function. Let

$$\widetilde{r}_{-} := \operatorname*{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} r(x) ext{ and } \widetilde{r}_{+} := \operatorname*{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} r(x).$$

A function  $r : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty)$  is said to be *globally log-Hölder continuous* if there exist an  $r_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}$  and a positive constant *C* such that for any  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we have

$$|r(x) - r(y)| \le \frac{C}{\log(e+1/|x-y|)}$$
 and  $|r(x) - r_{\infty}| \le \frac{C}{\log(e+|x|)}$ .

The *variable Lebesgue space*  $L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  associated with the function  $r : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty)$  is defined to be the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with finite quasi-norm

$$||f||_{L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \inf \left\{ \lambda \in (0,\infty) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ \frac{|f(x)|}{\lambda} \right]^{r(x)} dx \le 1 \right\}.$$

By the definition of  $L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , whenever  $r : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty)$ , it is easy to show that  $L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a ball quasi-Banach function space. If  $1 \le \tilde{r}_- \le \tilde{r}_+ < \infty$ , then  $(L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n), \|\cdot\|_{L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)})$  is a Banach function space and hence also a ball Banach function space (see, for instance, [93, p. 94]). For more results on variable Lebesgue spaces, we refer the reader to [30, 32, 38, 67, 79, 80].

We begin with the following consequence of Theorem 2.22.

**Theorem 5.12.** Let  $r : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty)$  be globally log-Hölder continuous. Assume that both  $1 \leq \tilde{r}_- \leq \tilde{r}_+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy  $n(1/\tilde{r}_- - 1/p) < 1$ . Let K(p, n) be as in (1.3). Then, for any  $f \in C^2_c(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$$

*Proof.* It follows from [93, p. 94] that the variable Lebesgue space  $L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space. Moreover, by the definition of  $L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have

$$\left[L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]^{1/\widetilde{r}_-}=L^{r(\cdot)/\widetilde{r}_-}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Using this and [37, Corollary 4.4.12], together with the assumption that *r* is globally log-Hölder continuous, we obtain that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is weakly bounded on  $[L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/\tilde{r}_-}$ . Thus, the assumptions of Theorem 2.22 are satisfied for  $X := L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $1 \leq \tilde{r}_- \leq \tilde{r}_+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfying  $n(1/\tilde{r}_- - 1/p) < 1$ . The conclusion of this theorem then completes the proof of Theorem 5.12.

The following theorem is a corollary of Theorem 4.12.

**Theorem 5.13.** Let  $r : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty)$  be globally log-Hölder continuous. Assume that  $1 < \tilde{r}_- \leq \tilde{r}_+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \tilde{r}_-)$ . Then  $f \in W^{1, L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\lim_{s\to 1^-} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p < \infty;$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

*with K*(*p*, *n*) *as in* (1.3).

*Proof.* By the proof of Theorem 5.12, we obtain that

$$\left[L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]^{1/p} = L^{r(\cdot)/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

and  $[L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p}$  is a BBF space (see, for instance, [93, p. 94]). Then, from [30, Theorem 2.80], we deduce that

$$\left[L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]' = L^{r(\cdot)'}(\mathbb{R}^n) \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\left[L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]^{1/p}\right)' = L^{(r(\cdot)/p)'}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

where  $r(\cdot)' := [r(\cdot) - 1]/r(\cdot)$  and  $(r(\cdot)/p)' := [r(\cdot) - p]/r(\cdot)$ . Moreover, by [30, p. 73] and the assumption that  $1 < \tilde{r}_{-} \le \tilde{r}_{+} < \infty$ , we conclude that  $L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and  $[L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})]'$  both have absolutely continuous norms. Furthermore, from [1, Theorem 1.7], it follows that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $([L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})]^{1/p})'$  with  $1 < \tilde{r}_{-} \le \tilde{r}_{+} < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \tilde{r}_{-})$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 are satisfied for  $X := L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  with  $1 < \tilde{r}_{-} \le \tilde{r}_{+} < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \tilde{r}_{-})$ . From this and Theorem 4.12 with  $X := L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , we deduce the desired conclusions of the present theorem. This finishes the proof of Theorem 5.13.

From the proof of Theorem 5.13, we deduce that all the assumptions of Theorems 2.20, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 with  $X := L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are satisfied. Using this, we obtain the following corollary.

**Corollary 5.14.** Let  $r : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty)$  be globally log-Hölder continuous. Assume that  $1 < \tilde{r}_- \leq \tilde{r}_+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \tilde{r}_-)$ . Then Theorems 2.20, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 hold for  $X = L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Remark 5.15.** Sobolev-type spaces  $W^{1,L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  associated with variable Lebesgue space were introduced in [38].

#### 5.5 Orlicz spaces

We discuss a few basics on Orlicz spaces. A non-decreasing function  $\Phi : [0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, \infty)$  is called an *Orlicz function* if  $\Phi(0) = 0$ ,  $\Phi(t) > 0$  for any  $t \in (0, \infty)$ , and  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \Phi(t) = \infty$ . An Orlicz function  $\Phi$  is said to be of *lower* (resp., *upper*) *type r* for some  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  if there exists a positive constant  $C_{(t)}$  such that, for any  $t \in [0, \infty)$  and  $s \in (0, 1)$  [resp.,  $s \in [1, \infty)$ ],

$$\Phi(st) \le C_{(r)} s^r \Phi(t).$$

In the remainder of this subsection, we always assume that  $\Phi : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  is an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . The Orlicz norm  $||f||_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$  of a measurable function f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is then defined by setting

$$||f||_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \inf \left\{ \lambda \in (0,\infty) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Phi\left(\frac{|f(x)|}{\lambda}\right) dx \le 1 \right\}.$$

Accordingly, the *Orlicz space*  $L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined to be the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with finite norm  $||f||_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ . It is known that  $L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a Banach function space when  $1 \le r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  (see [87, p. 67, Theorem 10]).

The following theorem is a corollary of Theorem 2.22.

**Theorem 5.16.** Let  $\Phi$  be an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . Assume that both  $1 \le r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy  $n(1/r_{\Phi}^- - 1/p) < 1$ . Let K(p, n) be as in (1.3). Then, for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$$

*Proof.* For  $t \in [0, \infty)$  define

$$\Phi_{r_{*}^{-}}(t) := \Phi(t^{1/r_{\Phi}^{-}}).$$
(5.9)

First, from [93, p. 94], it follows that the Orlicz space  $L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space. By the proof of [108, Lemma 2.31], we conclude that  $\Phi_{r_{\Phi}^-}$  is of lower type 1 and of upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+/r_{\Phi}^-$ , and

$$\left[L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]^{1/r_{\Phi}^-} = L^{\Phi_{r_{\Phi}^-}}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

From this and [65, Lemma 1.2.4], it follows that  $\mathcal{M}$  is weakly bounded on  $[L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/r_{\Phi}^-}$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 2.22 are satisfied for  $X := L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $1 \le r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfying  $n(1/r_{\Phi}^- - 1/p) < 1$ . Then, from this and Theorem 2.22 with  $X := L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we deduce the desired conclusion, completing the proof of Theorem 5.16.

The following theorem is a corollary of Theorem 4.12.

**Theorem 5.17.** Let  $\Phi$  be an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . Assume that  $1 < r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, r_{\Phi}^-)$ . Then  $f \in W^{1, L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\lim_{t\to 1^-} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty;$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

with K(p, n) as in (1.3).

*Proof.* By the proof of Theorem 5.16 we conclude that

$$\left[L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right]^{1/p} = L^{\Phi_p}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

and  $[L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p}$  is a BBF space, where  $\Phi_p$  is as in (5.9) with  $r_{\Phi}^-$  replaced by p. Moreover, by the proof of [108, Lemma 4.5], [65, Theorem 1.2.1], and dual theorem of  $L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (see, for instance, [88, Theorem 13]), we further conclude that, if  $1 < r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, r_{\Phi}^-)$ , then  $L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $[L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)]'$  have absolutely continuous norms, and  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $([L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p})'$ . Thus, the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 are satisfied for  $X := L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $1 < r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, r_{\Phi}^-)$ . The conclusion of Theorem 4.12 yields the claim of Theorem 5.17.

From the proof of Theorem 5.17, we deduce that all the assumptions of Theorems 2.20, 3.4, and 4.8 with  $X := L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are satisfied. Using this, we obtain the following corollary.

**Corollary 5.18.** Let  $\Phi$  be an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . Assume that  $1 < r_{\Phi}^- \leq r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, r_{\Phi}^-)$ . Then Theorems 2.20, 3.4, and 4.8 hold with X replaced by  $L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

**Remark 5.19.** We point out that, when  $L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) := L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $p \in (1, \infty)$ , Theorem 5.17 reduces to [4, Theorem 1.3] with  $A(t) = t^p$  for any  $t \in [0, \infty)$ .

#### 5.6 Orlicz-slice spaces

We recall the definition of Orlicz-slice spaces and briefly describe some related facts. Throughout this subsection, we assume that  $\Phi : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  is an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . For any given  $t, r \in (0, \infty)$ , the Orlicz-slice space  $(E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined to be the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the finite quasi-norm

$$||f||_{(E_{\Phi}^{r})_{t}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} := \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[ \frac{||f\mathbf{1}_{B(x,t)}||_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}{||\mathbf{1}_{B(x,t)}||_{L^{\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}} \right]^{r} dx \right\}^{\frac{1}{r}}$$

The Orlicz-slice spaces were introduced in [108] as a generalization of both the slice spaces of Auscher and Mourgoglou [7, 8] and the Wiener amalgam spaces in [50, 52, 64]. According to [108, Lemma 2.28] and [107, Remark 7.41(i)], the Orlicz-slice space  $(E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a ball Banach function space, but in general is not a Banach function space.

The following result is a corollary of Theorem 2.22.

**Theorem 5.20.** Let  $t \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $r \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\Phi$  be an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . Assume that both  $1 \le r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy  $n(1/\min\{r_{\Phi}^-, r\} - 1/p) < 1$ . Let K(p, n) be as in (1.3). Then, for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{(E^r_{\Phi})_t(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{(E^r_{\Phi})_t(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p.$$

*Proof.* First, from [108, Lemma 2.28] and [107, Remark 7.41(i)], it follows that the Orlicz-slice space  $(E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space. Then, by [108, Lemma 2.31], we conclude that

$$\left[ (E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n) \right]^{1/\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}} = \left( E_{\Phi_{\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}}}^{r/\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}} \right)_t (\mathbb{R}^n),$$

where  $\Phi_{\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}}$  is as in (5.9) with  $r_{\Phi}^-$  replaced by  $\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}$ , which is of lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-/\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}$ and of upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+/\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}$ . From this and [107, Proposition 7.57], we deduce that  $\mathcal{M}$  is weakly bounded on  $[(E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/\min\{r_{\Phi}^-,r\}}$ . Thus the assumptions of Theorem 2.22 are satisfied for  $X := (E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $1 \le r_{\Phi}^- \le r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfying  $n(1/\min\{r_{\Phi}^-, r\} - 1/p) < 1$ . The conclusion of Theorem 2.22 yields the claimed assertion of Theorem 5.20.

The following theorem is a corollary of Theorem 4.12.

**Theorem 5.21.** Let  $t \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $r \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\Phi$  be an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . Assume  $1 < r_{\Phi}^- \leq r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \min\{r_{\Phi}^-, r\})$ . Then f lies in  $W^{1,(E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in (E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{(E_{\Phi}^r)^t(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p < \infty;$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{(E^r_{\Phi})_t(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{(E^r_{\Phi})_t(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

with K(p, n) as in (1.3).

*Proof.* In view of the proof of Theorem 5.16 we have that

$$\left[ (E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n) \right]^{1/p} = (E_{\Phi_p}^{r/p})_t(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

and  $[(E_{\Phi}^{r})_{t}(\mathbb{R}^{n})]^{1/p}$  is a BBF space, where  $\Phi_{p}$  is as in (5.9) with  $r_{\Phi}^{-}$  replaced by p. Furthermore, using [108, Theorem 2.26 and Lemmas 4.4 and 4.5] and the assumptions that  $1 < r_{\Phi}^{-} \le r_{\Phi}^{+} < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \min\{r_{\Phi}^{-}, r\})$ , we conclude that  $(E_{\Phi}^{r})_{t}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  and  $[(E_{\Phi}^{r})_{t}(\mathbb{R}^{n})]'$  have absolutely continuous norms and that the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $([(E_{\Phi}^{r})_{t}(\mathbb{R}^{n})]^{1/p})'$ . Thus the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 are satisfied for  $X := (E_{\Phi}^{r})_{t}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  with  $1 < r_{\Phi}^{-} \le r_{\Phi}^{+} < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \min\{r_{\Phi}^{-}, r\})$ . The conclusion of this theorem completes the proof of Theorem 5.21.

From the proof of Theorem 5.21, we deduce that the assumptions of Theorems 2.20, 3.36, 3.4, and 4.8 with  $X := (E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are satisfied. Summarizing, we have the following result.

**Corollary 5.22.** Let  $t \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $r \in [1, \infty)$ , and  $\Phi$  be an Orlicz function with positive lower type  $r_{\Phi}^-$  and positive upper type  $r_{\Phi}^+$ . Assume  $1 < r_{\Phi}^- \leq r_{\Phi}^+ < \infty$  and  $p \in [1, \min\{r_{\Phi}^-, r\})$ . Then Theorems 2.20, 3.4, and 4.8 are valid for  $X = (E_{\Phi}^r)_t(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

#### 5.7 Lorentz spaces

The *Lorentz space*  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is defined to be the set of all the measurable functions f on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that, when  $q, r \in (0, \infty)$ ,

$$||f||_{L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left\{ \int_0^\infty \left[ t^{\frac{1}{q}} f^*(t) \right]^r \frac{dt}{t} \right\}^{\frac{1}{r}} < \infty,$$

where  $f^*$  denotes the *decreasing rearrangement of f*, defined by setting, for any  $t \in [0, \infty)$ ,

 $f^*(t) := \inf\{s \in (0, \infty) : |\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |f(x)| > s\}| \le t\}.$ 

We adopt the convention  $\inf \emptyset = \infty$ , thus having  $f^*(t) = \infty$  whenever  $d_f(s) > t$  for all  $s \ge 0$ .

Obviously, when  $q, r \in (1, \infty)$ , the Lorentz space  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a Banach function space and hence a ball Banach function space; when  $q, r \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a quasi-Banach function space and hence a ball quasi-Banach function space (see, for instance, [47, Theorem 1.4.11]).

The following result is a corollary of Theorem 2.15.

**Theorem 5.23.** Let  $q, r \in (1, \infty)$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$  satisfy n(1/q - 1/p) < 1. Let K(p, n) be as in (1.3). Then, for any  $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

*Proof.* From the conclusion in [93, p. 87], it follows that the Lorentz space  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a BBF space. Using this fact and Theorem 2.15, it follows that in order to prove the required conclusion, it would suffice to show that  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally  $n/\alpha$ -doubling with  $n/\alpha \in (0, 1 + n/p)$ . Indeed, by the definition of  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , for any  $B_0 := B(\mathbf{0}, r) \in \mathbb{B}$ , we find that

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{B_0}\|_{L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \left\{\int_0^{|B(\mathbf{0},r)|} t^{\frac{r}{q}-1} dt\right\}^{\frac{1}{r}} = \left(\frac{r}{q}\right)^r |B_0|^{1/q}.$$

This implies that, for any  $\lambda \in [1, \infty)$ ,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{\lambda B_0}\|_{L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \left(\frac{r}{q}\right)^r |\lambda B_0|^{1/q} = \lambda^{n/q} \left(\frac{r}{q}\right)^r |B_0|^{1/q} = \lambda^{n/q} \|\mathbf{1}_{B_0}\|_{L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Thus,  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is locally n/q-doubling. Observe that the assumption that n(1/q - 1/p) < 1 gives  $n/q \in (0, 1 + n/p)$  and this completes the proof of Theorem 5.23.

The following result is a consequence of Theorem 4.12.

**Theorem 5.24.** Let  $q, r \in (1, \infty)$  and  $p \in [1, \min\{q, r\})$ . Then  $f \in W^{1, L^{q, r}(\mathbb{R}^n)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if  $f \in L^{q, r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and in this case we have

$$\lim_{s\to 1^-} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p < \infty;$$

moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{-}} (1-s) \left\| \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(\cdot) - f(y)|^p}{|\cdot - y|^{n+sp}} \, dy \right]^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p = \frac{K(p,n)}{p} \, \| |\nabla f| \, \|_{L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^p$$

*with K*(*p*, *n*) *as in* (1.3).

Proof. In view of the identity in [47, Remark 1.4.7],

$$[L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p} = L^{q/p,r/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

and thus  $[L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p}$  is a BBF space (see, for instance, [93, p. 87]). Then, from this and [47, Theorem 1.4.16 (vi)], it follows that

$$[L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)]' = L^{q',r'}(\mathbb{R}^n) \quad \text{and} \quad \left( [L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p} \right)' = L^{(q/p)',(r/p)'}(\mathbb{R}^n). \tag{5.10}$$

Moreover, by [101, Remark 3.4(iii)], we conclude that  $L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $[L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)]'$  both have absolutely continuous norms. Furthermore, the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded

from  $L^{t,s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to itself when  $1 < t, s < \infty$ ; this can be obtained by interpolation from the endpoint cases where (t, s) = (t, 1) and  $(t, s) = (t, \infty)$ , which can be found, for instance in [29]. This, combined with (5.10), further implies that  $\mathcal{M}$  is bounded on  $([L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)]^{1/p})'$ . Thus, all the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 are satisfied for  $X := L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $q, r \in (1, \infty)$  and  $p \in [1, \min\{q, r\})$ . From this and Theorem 4.12 with  $X := L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we deduce the claimed conclusions. This finishes the proof of Theorem 5.24.

From the proof of Theorem 5.24, we deduce that the assumptions of Theorems 2.13, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 with  $X := L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are satisfied. Thus we obtain the following results.

**Corollary 5.25.** Let  $q, r \in (1, \infty)$  and  $p \in [1, \min\{q, r\})$ . Then Theorems 2.13, 3.4, 3.36, and 4.8 are valid for  $X = L^{q,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

## 6 Final remarks

We prove the identity concerning the value of the constant in (1.3). Applying an orthogonal transformation we may assume that *e* is the unit vector  $e_1 = (1, 0, ..., 0)$  in  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . Using the identity in [47, Appendix D3] we write

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} |\xi \cdot e_1|^p \, d\sigma(\xi) &= \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n-1}{2})} \int_{-1}^1 |s|^p (1-s^2)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} \, ds \\ &= \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n-1}{2})} \int_{0}^1 (s^2)^{\frac{p-1}{2}} (1-s^2)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} 2s \, ds \\ &= \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n-1}{2})} \int_{0}^1 u^{\frac{p-1}{2}} (1-u)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} \, du \\ &= \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n-1}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{p+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{p+n}{2}\right)}, \end{split}$$

in view of the Beta function identity

$$\int_0^1 u^{a-1} (1-u)^{b-1} du = B(a,b) = \Gamma(a) \Gamma(b) / \Gamma(a+b), \ \forall a,b > 0.$$

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank the referee for their careful reading and for providing many motivating remarks which indeed improved the exposition of this article and led to Proposition 5.3. Indeed, the upper estimate (5.3) of Proposition 5.3 is attributed to the referee.

Data availability Our manuscript has no associated data.

#### **Declarations**

Conflict of interest The authors state that there is no conflict of interest.

## References

- [1] T. Adamowicz, P. Harjulehto and P. Hästö, Maximal operator in variable exponent Lebesgue spaces on unbounded quasimetric measure spaces, Math. Scand. 116 (2015), 5-22.
- [2] D. R. Adams, Sobolev Spaces, Pure and Applied Mathematics 65, Academic Press, New York–London, 1975.
- [3] D. R. Adams, Morrey Spaces, Lecture Notes in Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis, Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2015.
- [4] A. Alberico, A. Cianchi, L. Pick and L. Slavíková, On the limit as s → 1<sup>-</sup> of possibly non-separable fractional Orlicz-Sobolev spaces, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 31 (2020), 879-899.
- [5] K. F. Andersen and R. T. John, Weighted inequalities for vecter-valued maximal functions and singular integrals, Studia Math. 69 (1980), 19-31.
- [6] K. Atkinson and W. Han, Spherical Harmonics and Approximations on the Unit Sphere: An Introduction, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 2044, Springer, Heidelberg, 2012.
- [7] P. Auscher and M. Mourgoglou, Representation and uniqueness for boundary value elliptic problems via first order systems, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 35 (2019), 241-315.
- [8] P. Auscher and C. Prisuelos-Arribas, Tent space boundedness via extrapolation, Math. Zeit. 286 (2017), 1575-1604.
- [9] A. Benedek and R. Panzone, The space  $L^p$  with mixed norm, Duke Math. J. 28 (1961), 301-324.
- [10] C. Bennett and R. Sharpley, Interpolation of Operators, Pure and Applied Mathematics 129, Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1988.
- [11] D. Brazke, A. Schikorra and P.-L. Yung, Bourgain–Brezis–Mironescu convergence via Triebel–Lizorkin spaces, arXiv: 2109.04159.
- [12] H. Brezis, How to recognize constant functions. A connection with Sobolev spaces, Russian Math. Surveys 57 (2002), 693-708.
- [13] H. Brezis, Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations, Universitext, Springer, New York, 2011.
- [14] H. Brezis and P. Mironescu, Gagliardo–Nirenberg inequalities and non-inequalities: the full story, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 35 (2018), 1355-1376.
- [15] H. Brezis and P. Mironescu, Where Sobolev interacts with Gagliardo–Nirenberg, J. Funct. Anal. 277 (2019), 2839-2864.
- [16] H. Brezis and H. M. Nguyen, The BBM formula revisited, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 27 (2016).
- [17] H. Brezis, A. Seeger, J. Van Schaftingen and P.-L. Yung, Families of functionals representing Sobolev norms, arXiv: 2109.02930.
- [18] H. Brezis, A. Seeger, J. Van Schaftingen and P.-L. Yung, Sobolev spaces revisited, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. (to appear) or arXiv: 2202.01410.
- [19] H. Brezis, J. Van Schaftingen and P.-L. Yung, A surprising formula for Sobolev norms, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA118(2021), e2025254118, 6 pp.
- [20] H. Brezis, J. Van Schaftingen and P.-L. Yung, Going to Lorentz when fractional Sobolev, Gagliardo and Nirenberg estimates fail, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 60 (2021), Paper No. 129, 12 pp.

- [21] J. Bourgain, H. Brezis and P. Mironescu, Lifting in Sobolev spaces, J. Anal. Math. 80 (2000), 37-86.
- [22] J. Bourgain, H. Brezis and P. Mironescu, Another look at Sobolev spaces, in: Optimal Control and Partial Differential Equations, IOS, Amsterdam, 2001, 439-455.
- [23] J. Bourgain, H. Brezis and P. Mironescu, Limiting embedding theorems for  $W^{s,p}$  when  $s \uparrow 1$  and applications, J. Anal. Math. 87 (2002), 77-101.
- [24] L. Caffarelli, J. M. Roquejoffre and O. Savin, Non-local minimal surfaces, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 63 (2010) 1111-1144.
- [25] L. Caffarelli and E. Valdinoci, Uniform estimates and limiting arguments for nonlocal minimal surfaces, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 41 (2011), 203-240.
- [26] D.-C. Chang, S. Wang, D. Yang and Y. Zhang, Littlewood–Paley characterizations of Hardy-type spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces, Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 14 (2020), Paper No. 40, 33 pp.
- [27] F. Chiarenza and M. Frasca, Morrey spaces and Hardy–Littlewood maximal function, Rend. Mat. Appl. (7) 7 (1987), 273-279.
- [28] G. Cleanthous, A. G. Georgiadis and M. Nielsen, Discrete decomposition of homogeneous mixed-norm Besov spaces, in: Functional Analysis, Harmonic Analysis, and Image Processing: A Collection of Papers in Honor of Björn Jawerth, 167-184, Contemp. Math. 693, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, RI, 2017.
- [29] L. Colzani, E. Laeng and C. Morpurgo, Symmetrization and norm of the Hardy–Littlewood maximal operator on Lorentz and Marcinkiewicz spaces, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 77 (2008), 349-362.
- [30] D. V. Cruz-Uribe and A. Fiorenza, Variable Lebesgue Space. Foundations and Harmonic Analysis, Appl. Number. Harmon. Aanl., Birkhäuser/Springer, Heidelberg, 2013.
- [31] D. V. Cruz-Uribe, J. M. Martell and C. Pérez, Weights, Extrapolation and the Theory of Rubio de Francia, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 215, Birkhuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011.
- [32] D. V. Cruz-Uribe and L. A. D. Wang, Variable Hardy spaces, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 63 (2014), 447-493.
- [33] F. Dai, X. Lin, D. Yang, W. Yuan and Y. Zhang, Generalization in ball Banach function spaces of Brezis–Van Schaftingen–Yung formulae with applications to fractional Sobolev and Gagliardo–Nirenberg inequalities, Submitted.
- [34] F. Dai, X. Lin, D. Yang, W. Yuan and Y. Zhang, Poincaré inequality meets Brezis–Van Schaftingen–Yung formula on metric measure spaces, Submitted.
- [35] J. Dávila, On an open question about functions of bounded variation, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 15 (2002), 519-527.
- [36] R. Del Campo, A. Fernández, F. Mayoral and F. Naranjo, Orlicz spaces associated to a quasi-Banach function space: applications to vector measures and interpolation, Collect. Math. 72 (2021), 481-499.
- [37] L. Diening, P. Harjulehto, P. Hästö and M. Růžička, Lebesgue and Sobolev Spaces with Variable Exponents, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 2017, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [38] L. Diening, P. Hästö and S. Roudenko, Function spaces of variable smoothness and integrability, J. Funct. Anal. 256 (2009), 1731-1768.

- [39] Ó. Domínguez and M. Milman, New Brezis–Van Schaftingen–Yung–Sobolev type inequalities connected with maximal inequalities and one parameter families of operators, arXiv: 2010.15873.
- [40] Ó. Domínguez and M. Milman, Bourgain–Brezis–Mironescu–Maz'ya–Shaposhnikova limit formulae for fractional Sobolev spaces via interpolation and extrapolation, arXiv: 2111.06297.
- [41] Ó. Domínguez, A. Seeger, B. Street, J. Van Schaftingen and P.-L. Yung, Spaces of Besov– Sobolev type and a problem on nonlinear approximation, arXiv: 2112.05539.
- [42] L. C. Evans, Partial Differential Equations, Second Edition, Graduate Studies in Mathematics 19, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2010.
- [43] G. B. Folland, Real Analysis, Modern Techniques and Their Applications, Second Edition, Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York), Wiley, New York (1999).
- [44] E. Gagliardo, Proprietà di alcune classi di funzioni in più variabili, Ric. Mat. 7 (1958), 102-137.
- [45] A. R. Galmarino and R. Panzone, L<sup>p</sup>-spaces with mixed norm, for P a sequence, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 10 (1965), 494-518.
- [46] A. G. Georgiadis, J. Johnsen and M. Nielsen, Wavelet transforms for homogeneous mixednorm Triebel–Lizorkin spaces, Monatsh. Math. 183 (2017), 587-624.
- [47] L. Grafakos, Classical Fourier Analysis, Third Edition, Grad. Texts in Math 249, Springer, New York, 2014.
- [48] Q. Gu and P.-L. Yung, A new formula for the L<sup>p</sup> norm, J. Funct. Anal. 281 (2021), Paper No. 109075, 19 pp.
- [49] B. X. Han and A. Pinamonti, On the asymptotic behaviour of the fractional Sobolev seminorms in metric measure spaces: Bourgain–Brezis–Mironescu's theorem revisited, arXiv: 2110.05980.
- [50] K.-P. Ho, Dilation operators and integral operators on amalgam space  $(L_p, l_q)$ , Ric. Mat. 68 (2019), 661-677.
- [51] K.-P. Ho, Erdélyi–Kober fractional integral operators on ball Banach function spaces, Rend. Semin. Mat. Univ. Padova 145 (2021), 93-106.
- [52] F. Holland, Harmonic analysis on amalgams of  $L^p$  and  $l^q$ , J. London Math. Soc. (2) 10 (1975), 295-305.
- [53] L. Hörmander, Estimates for translation invariant operators in L<sup>p</sup> spaces, Acta Math. 104 (1960), 93-140.
- [54] M. Hovemann, Triebel–Lizorkin–Morrey spaces and differences, Math. Nachr. 295 (2022), 725-761.
- [55] L. Huang, D.-C. Chang and D. Yang, Fourier transform of Hardy spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces, Appl. Anal. (2021), DOI: 10.1142/s0219530521500135.
- [56] L. Huang, J. Liu, D. Yang and W. Yuan, Atomic and Littlewood–Paley characterizations of anisotropic mixed-norm Hardy spaces and their applications, J. Geom. Anal. 29 (2019), 1991-2067.
- [57] L. Huang, J. Liu, D. Yang and W. Yuan, Dual spaces of anisotropic mixed-norm Hardy spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 147 (2019), 1201-1215.
- [58] L. Huang and D. Yang, On function spaces with mixed norms a survey, J. Math. Study 54 (2021), 262-336.

- [59] M. Izuki, T. Noi and Y. Sawano, The John–Nirenberg inequality in ball Banach function spaces and application to characterization of BMO, J. Inequal. Appl. 2019, Paper No. 268, 11 pp.
- [60] M. Izuki and Y. Sawano, Characterization of BMO via ball Banach function spaces, Vestn. St.-Peterbg. Univ. Mat. Mekh. Astron. 4 (62) (2017), 78-86.
- [61] H. Jia and H. Wang, Decomposition of Hardy–Morrey spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 354 (2009), 99-110.
- [62] J. Johnsen and W. Sickel, A direct proof of Sobolev embeddings for quasi-homogeneous Lizorkin–Triebel spaces with mixed norms, J. Funct. Spaces Appl. 5 (2007), 183-198.
- [63] J. Johnsen and W. Sickel, On the trace problem for Lizorkin–Triebel spaces with mixed norms, Math. Nachr. 281 (2008), 669-696.
- [64] N. Kikuchi, E. Nakai, N. Tomita, K. Yabuta and T. Yoneda, Calderón–Zygmund operators on amalgam spaces and in the discrete case, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 335 (2007), 198-212.
- [65] V. Kokilashvili and M. Krbec, Weighted Inequalities in Lorentz and Orlicz Spaces, World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc, River Edge, NJ, 1991.
- [66] K. A. Kopotun, Polynomial approximation with doubling weights having finitely many zeros and singularities, J. Approx. Theory 198 (2015), 24-62.
- [67] O. Kováčik and J. Rákosník, On spaces  $L^{p(x)}$  and  $W^{k,p(x)}$ , Czechoslovak Math. J. 41 (116) (1991), 592-618.
- [68] A. Kufner and B. Opic, How to define reasonably weighted Sobolev spaces, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin. 25 (1984), 537-554.
- [69] M. Lacey, E. T. Sawyer and I. Uriarte-Tuero, A characterization of two weight norm inequalities for maximal singular integrals with one doubling measure, Anal. PDE 5 (2012), 1-60.
- [70] G. Leoni and D. Spector, Characterization of Sobolev and BV spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 261 (2011), 2926-2958.
- [71] P. I. Lizorkin, Multipliers of Fourier integrals and estimates of convolutions in spaces with mixed norm, Applications, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 34 (1970), 218-247.
- [72] M. Ludwig, Anisotropic fractional Sobolev norms, Adv. Math. 252 (2014), 150-157.
- [73] G. Mastroianni and V. Totik, Best approximation and moduli of smoothness for doubling weights, J. Approx. Theory 110 (2001), 180-199.
- [74] V. Maz'ya, Sobolev Spaces with Applications to Elliptic Partial Differential Equations, Second, Revised and Augmented Edition, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften 342, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [75] V. Maz'ya and T. Shaposhnikova, On the Bourgain, Brezis, and Mironescu theorem concerning limiting embeddings of fractional Sobolev spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 195 (2002), 230-238.
- [76] M. Milman, Notes on limits of Sobolev spaces and the continuity of interpolation scales, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 357 (2005), 3425-3442.
- [77] G. Mingione, Gradient potential estimates, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 13 (2011), 459-486.
- [78] C. B. Morrey, On the solutions of quasi-linear elliptic partial differential equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 43 (1938), 126-166.
- [79] H. Nakano, Modulared Semi-Ordered Linear Spaces, Maruzen Co., Ltd., Tokyo, 1950.
- [80] H. Nakano, Topology of Linear Topological Spaces, Maruzen Co., Ltd., Tokyo, 1951.

- [81] E. D. Nezza, G. Palatucci and E. Valdinoci, Hitchhiker's guide to the fractional Sobolev spaces, Bull. Sci. Math. 136 (2012), 521-573.
- [82] H. M. Nguyen, Some new characterizations of Sobolev spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 237 (2006), 689-720.
- [83] T. Nogayama, Mixed Morrey spaces, Positivity 23 (2019), 961-1000.
- [84] T. Nogayama, T. Ono, D. Salim and Y. Sawano, Atomic decomposition for mixed Morrey spaces, J. Geom. Anal. 31 (2021), 9338-9365.
- [85] A. Poliakovsky, Some remarks on a formula for Sobolev norms due to Brezis, Van Schaftingen and Yung, J. Funct. Anal. 282 (2022), Paper No. 109312, 47 pp.
- [86] A. C. Ponce, A new approach to Sobolev spaces and connections to Γ-convergence, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 19 (2004), 229-255.
- [87] M. M. Rao and Z. D. Ren, Theory of Orlicz Spaces, Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics 146, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 1991.
- [88] M. M. Rao and Z. D. Ren, Applications of Orlicz Spaces, Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics 250, Marcel Dekker, New York, 2002.
- [89] W. Rudin, Real and Complex Analysis, Third Edition, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1987.
- [90] Y. Sawano, Theory of Besov Spaces, Developments in Mathematics 56, Springer, Singapore, 2018.
- [91] Y. Sawano, G. Di Fazio and D. Hakim, Morrey Spaces: Introduction and Applications to Integral Operators and PDE's, Volumes I, Monographs and Research Notes in Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2020.
- [92] Y. Sawano, G. Di Fazio and D. Hakim, Morrey Spaces: Introduction and Applications to Integral Operators and PDE's, Volumes II, Monographs and Research Notes in Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2020.
- [93] Y. Sawano, K.-P. Ho, D. Yang and S. Yang, Hardy spaces for ball quasi-Banach function spaces, Dissertationes Math. (Rozprawy Mat.) 525 (2017), 1-102.
- [94] Y. Sawano and H. Tanaka, The Fatou property of block spaces, J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 22 (2015), 663-683.
- [95] E. M. Stein and R. Shakarchi, Real Analysis. Measure Theory, Integration, and Hilbert Spaces, Princeton Lectures in Analysis 3, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 2005.
- [96] E. M. Stein and R. Shakarchi, Functional Analysis. Introduction to Further Topics in Analysis, Princeton Lectures in Analysis 4, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 2011.
- [97] J. Tao, Da. Yang and Do. Yang, Boundedness and compactness characterizations of Cauchy integral commutators on Morrey spaces, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 42 (2019), 1631-1651.
- [98] J. Tao, D. Yang, W. Yuan and Y. Zhang, Compactness characterizations of commutators on ball Banach function spaces, Potential Anal (2021), https://doi.org/10.1007/s11118-021-09953-w.
- [99] H. Triebel, Theory of Function Spaces, Monographs in Mathematics 78, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1983.
- [100] J. Van Schaftingen and M. Willem, Set transformations, symmetrizations and isoperimetric inequalities, in: Nonlinear Analysis and Applications to Physical Sciences, 135-152, Springer Italia, Milan, 2004.

- [101] F. Wang, D. Yang and S. Yang, Applications of Hardy spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces, Results Math. 75 (2020), Paper No. 26, 58 pp.
- [102] S. Wang, D. Yang, W. Yuan and Y. Zhang, Weak Hardy-type spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces II: Littlewood–Paley characterizations and real interpolation, J. Geom. Anal. 31 (2021), 631-696
- [103] X. Yan, Z. He, D. Yang and W. Yuan, Hardy spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces on spaces of homogeneous type: Characterizations of maximal functions, decompositions, and dual spaces, Math. Nachr. (2022), DOI: 10.1002/mana.202100432.
- [104] X. Yan, Z. He, D. Yang and W. Yuan, Hardy spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces on spaces of homogeneous type: Littlewood–Paley characterizations with applications to boundedness of Calderón–Zygmund operators, Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) (2022), https://doi.org/10.1007/s10114-022-1573-9.
- [105] X. Yan, D. Yang and W. Yuan, Intrinsic square function characterizations of Hardy spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces, Front. Math. China 15 (2020), 769-806.
- [106] Y. Zhang, L. Huang, D. Yang and W. Yuan, New ball Campanato-type function spaces and their applications, J. Geom. Anal. 32 (2022), Paper No. 99, 42 pp.
- [107] Y. Zhang, S. Wang, D. Yang and W. Yuan, Weak Hardy-type spaces associated with ball quasi-Banach function spaces I: Decompositions with applications to boundedness of Calderón–Zygmund operators, Sci. China Math. 64 (2021), 2007-2064.
- [108] Y. Zhang, D. Yang, W. Yuan and S. Wang, Real-variable characterizations of Orlicz-slice Hardy spaces, Anal. Appl. (Singap.) 17 (2019), 597-664.

#### Feng Dai

Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, University of Alberta Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G1, Canada

*E-mail*: fdai@ualberta.ca

Loukas Grafakos (Corresponding author)

Department of Mathematics, University of Missouri, Columbia MO 65211, USA

*E-mail*: grafakosl@missouri.edu

Zhulei Pan, Dachun Yang, Wen Yuan and Yangyang Zhang

Laboratory of Mathematics and Complex Systems (Ministry of Education of China), School of Mathematical Sciences, Beijing Normal University, Beijing 100875, People's Republic of China

*E-mails*: zlpan@mail.bnu.edu.cn (Z. Pan) dcyang@bnu.edu.cn (D. Yang) wenyuan@bnu.edu.cn (W. Yuan) yangyzhang@mail.bnu.edu.cn (Y. Zhang)